NM-AIST Repository	https://dspace.mm-aist.ac.tz	
Life sciences and Bio-engineering	PhD Theses and Dissertations [LiSBE]	

2020-08

Prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy, risk factors and simplified method for identification of pregnant women at risk in Arusha, Tanzania

Msollo, Safiness Simon

NM-AIST

https://dspace.nm-aist.ac.tz/handle/20.500.12479/928 Provided with love from The Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology

PREVALENCE OF HYPERGLYCEMIA IN PREGNANCY, RISK FACTORS AND SIMPLIFIED METHOD FOR IDENTIFICATION OF PREGNANT WOMEN AT RISK IN ARUSHA, TANZANIA

Safiness Simon Msollo

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Life Sciences of the Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology

Arusha, Tanzania

August, 2020

ABSTRACT

Hyperglycemia in pregnancy is increasing in Tanzania; however, timely diagnosis is limited. This study therefore, aimed to establish the prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy, risk factors and develop a simple method for identification of women with gestational diabetes mellitus in Tanzania. A cross-sectional study was conducted in Arusha City, between March and December, 2018 among 468 pregnant women at second and third trimesters. Blood glucose was tested using Gluco-Plus[™] and the World Health Organization's criteria, while insulin resistance was calculated using the Homeostasis Model of Assessment formula. Anthropometrics were assessed using standard procedure and knowledge on hyperglycemia in pregnancy, demographics, and maternal characteristics were collected through face-to-face interviews using a questionnaire. The prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy was 16.2% (n = 76) of which 13% had gestational diabetes mellitus and 3.2% diabetes in pregnancy. Additionally, the prevalence of insulin resistance was 21% (n=49). Knowledge about hyperglycemia in pregnancy was low on existence (10.7%, n=50), effects (23%, n=14), symptoms (26%, n=13) and risk factors (30%, n=15). Hyperglycemia in pregnancy was significantly associated with body fat percentage ≥ 38 , delivery macrosomic babies, insulin resistance, mid-upper arm circumference ≥ 28 cm and family history of type 2 diabetes mellitus. These risk factors, except insulin resistance, were used to develop a risk score which was simplified into risk factors checklist to identify women with gestational diabetes mellitus. The score correctly identified 98% of hyperglycemic women, with an area under the receiver operating characteristic curve of 0.971 (95% CI 0.955-0.993, p < 0.001), sensitivity of 0.980 and specificity of 0.458. The high prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy creates a need for regular screening and management. Hence, the developed screening method can be validated for use when resources are limited to give priority to high risk women while planning for universal screening.

DECLARATION

I, Safiness Simon Msollo, do hereby declare to the Senate of the Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology that this dissertation is my own work and that it has neither been submitted nor being concurrently submitted for degree award in any other institution.

13/08/2020

.

Safiness Simon Msollo Name and signature of the candidate

Date

The above declaration is confirmed

Allertin

Dr. Haikael David Martin Supervisor

the second

Dr. Akwilina Wendelen Mwanri Supervisor

Dr. Pammla M. Letrucka

Prof. Pammla Petrucka Supervisor

.....

13/08/2020

Date

13/08/2020

.

Date

13/08/2020

.....

Date

COPYRIGHT

This thesis is copyright material protected under the Berne Convention, the Copyright Act of 1999 and other international and national enactments, in that behalf, on intellectual property. It must not be reproduced by any means, in full or in part, except for short extracts in fair dealing; for researcher, private study, critical scholarly review or discourse with an acknowledgement, without the written permission of the office of Deputy Vice Chancellor for Academic, Research and Innovation on behalf of both the author and the Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology.

CERTIFICATION

The undersigned certify that they have read and hereby recommend for acceptance for the dissertation entitled "Prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy, risk factors and simplified method for identification of pregnant women at risk in Arusha city, Tanzania". In partial fulfilment of the Award of Doctorate of Philosophy in Life Sciences at the Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology.

Approval of the dissertation

Allartin

Dr. Haikael David Martin Supervisor

Dr. Akwilina Wendelen Mwanri Supervisor

Dr. Pammla M. Petrucka R.

Prof. Pammla Petrucka Supervisor

13/08/2020

.

Date

13/08/2020

•••••

Date

13/08/2020

•••••

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I wish to thank the Almighty God for allowing me to successfully complete this study in good health, peace and harmony.

I wish to acknowledge with deep appreciation the tireless, constant and consistent guidance and encouragement of my supervisors Dr. Haikael David Martin, Dr. Akwilina Wendelin Mwanri, and Prof. Pammla Petrucka. I also owe a deep gratitude to all participants, nurses and doctors at Kaloleni and Ngarenaro Health Centers for their positive cooperation which made my data collection possible.

My heartfelt appreciations also go to my beloved husband, Stewart Mnyenyelwa, who took care of our family in my absence and for his encouragement, support, and help during the entire period of my study. I am obliged to mention my children Aloyce, Stephen, and Scholastica for their tolerance of the hardships they encountered while I was away for my studies.

I am grateful to my loving parents, Simon and Yasinta, whom I shall always remain greatly indebted to for their untiring moral support, love, advice and for laying down a concrete foundation of my education. I say "thank you mum and dad" May the Almighty God bless you always. Moreover, I convey thanks to all my family members who contributed to my success directly or indirectly.

I owe a deep gratitude to all research assistants; Rafiki Mkanza and Janeth Ringo for their assistance on data collection. I also acknowledge the assistance of Mr. Temba for laboratory analysis and Dr. Emmanuel Mpolya and Mr. Joel Efraim for their assistance on statistical analysis.

I am sincerely indebted to Centre for Research, Agricultural, Advancement, Teaching Excellence and Sustainability in Food and Nutrition Security (CREATES) for their financial support which made my studies possible. I believe without their financial support the situation could have been very difficult.

I am thankful to all staffs and students of Life Sciences for their constructive criticism and ideas, company and assistance throughout my study.

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents; Simon Msollo and Yasinta Mkanza who laid down the foundation of my education and to my lovely husband Stewart Mnyenyelwa for his tireless support, prayers and encouragement.

ABSTR	ACT	i
COPYF	RIGHT	iii
CERTI	FICATION	iv
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	v
DEDIC	ATION	vi
TABLE	E OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST O	FTABLES	x
	FEIGURES	vi
LIST O	F ACRONYMS, ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	xiii
СНАРТ	TER ONE	1
INTRO	DUCTION	1
1.1	Background of the study	1
1.2	Statement of the problem	6
1.3	Rationale of the study	7
1.4	Objectives	9
	1.4.1 General objective	9
1.6	Significance of the study	10
1.7	Delineation of the study	10
СНАРТ	TER TWO	11
LITER	ATURE REVIEW	11
2.1	An overview of the study	11
2.2	Etiology of hyperglycemia in pregnancy in forms of gestational diabetes	mellitus.11
2.3	Risk factors for insulin resistance and hyperglycemia in pregnancy	12
2.4	Knowledge of hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women	15
2.5	Methods of screening for gestational diabetes mellitus	18
СНАРТ	TER THREE	21
MATE	RIALS AND METHODS	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.1	Descript	ion of the study area21
3.2	Study de	esign
3.3	The stud	ly population22
	3.3.1	Inclusion criteria
	3.3.2	Exclusion criteria
3.4	Sample	size determination
3.5	Samplin	g techniques23
3.6	Data col	lection and laboratory analysis23
	3.6.1	Training of the research assistants and pretesting of research tools23
	3.6.2	Recruitment and overall data collection procedure24
	3.6.3	Assessment of demographic characteristics and selected risk factors for
		hyperglycemia in pregnancy25
	3.6.4	Laboratory assessments for hyperglycemia in pregnancy and insulin resistance among pregnant women
	3.6.5	Anthropometric assessments
	3.6.6	Assessment of knowledge on hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women
	3.6.7	Development of the risk scores
3.7	Statistic	al analysis
	3.7.1	Demographic data
	3.7.2	Anthropometrics data
	3.7.3	Prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy, insulin resistance and associated risk factors
	3.7.4	Knowledge on hyperglycemia in pregnancy
	3.7.5	Risk score data
CHAPT	ER FOUI	R
RESUL	TS AND	DISCUSSION
4.1	Results.	
	4.1.1	Demographic characteristics of participants
	4.1.2	Anthropometric measurements of pregnant women40
	4.1.3	Prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women41
	4.1.4	Insulin resistance among pregnant women45

	4.1.5	Knowledge on hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women47
	4.1.6	Development of the risk scores
4.2	Discussi	ion56
	4.2.1	Overview
	4.2.2	Prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy and associated risk factors among pregnant women
	4.2.3	Prevalence of insulin resistance and its determinants among pregnant women
	4.2.4	Knowledge about hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women62
	4.2.5	Simple method for identification of women with/at risk of gestational diabetes mellitus
4.3	Limitati	on of the study72
CHAPTE	ER FIVE	
CONCLU	USION A	AND RECOMMENDATIONS
5.1	Conclus	ion73
5.2	Recomm	nendations
REFERE	ENCES	
APPEND	DICES	
RESEAR	RCH OU	TPUTS104
Public	cations	
Poster	r present	ation

LIST OF TABLES

ble 1: Demographic characteristics of participants (N=468)	39
ble 2: Demographic and selected maternal characteristics of the women (N=468)	40
ble 3: Anthropometry of the pregnant women (N=468 and n=238 for pre-pregnancy	40
ble 4: Laboratory tests for glucose and urine protein among pregnant women (N=468))42
able 5: Mean blood glucose comparisons between women with and without hyperglyco in pregnancy (N=468)	emia 42
ble 6: Comparison of selected characteristics between women with and without	43
ble 7: Odd ratios of select risk factors for hyperglycemia in pregnancy	45
ble 8: Laboratory tests for proteinuria and insulin resistance among pregnant women	46
ble 9: Association of select factors with insulin resistance	47
ble 10: Participants' knowledge about hyperglycemia in pregnancy (N=468)	48
ble 11: Participants' attributes associated with awareness of hyperglycemia in	49
ble 12: Women's reported practices on hyperglycemia in pregnancy screening and	50
ble 13: Univariate analysis of risk factors associated with gestational diabetes	51
ble 14: Multivariate analysis and risk scores	52
ble 15: The risk factors checklist	56

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	General behavior change model (Hungerford & Volk, 1990)17
Figure 2:	The health belief model (Irwin, 1974; Janz & Marshall, 1988)18
Figure 3:	Conceptual frame work for dependents and independent variables20
Figure 4:	Arusha map indicating the study area (NBS, 2012)21
Figure 5:	Flow chart for recruitment and data collection procedure25
Figure 6:	Internalizing the instruction manual for preparation of analytical reagents
Figure 7:	Addition of stop solution to stop the reaction
Figure 8:	A plate placed in an ELISA machine for reading
Figure 9:	The graph for absorbance's against the standard concentrations
Figure 10:	Measurement of body fat percentage
Figure 11:	Nutrition status classified by body mass index (BMI) and mid upper arm41
Figure 12:	Contributions of each risk factor in the model
Figure 13:	Receiver-operating characteristics curve (ROC) for performance of the risk53
Figure 14:	Receiver–operating characteristics curve for performance of the risk score, urine
	glucose and fasting and oral glucose tolerance test models
Figure 15:	Net benefit curve for the clinical utility of the model (threshold probability)55

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1:	Research tool (Questionnaire)	95
Appendix 2:	Consent form for the cross-sectional study	101
Appendix 3:	Ethical clearance	103

LIST OF ACRONYMS, ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

ACOG	American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists
ADA	American Diabetes Association
ANC	Antenatal Care /Clinic
BMI	Body Mass Index
CI	Confidence Interval
СМ	Centimeter
CREATES	Centre for Research, Agricultural, Advancement, Teaching
	Excellence and Sustainability in Food and Nutrition Security
DIP	Diabetes in Pregnancy
DM	Diabetes Mellitus
DHIS	District Health Information System
FANC	Focused Antenatal Care
GDM	Gestational Diabetes Mellitus
HIP	Hyperglycemia in Pregnancy
IADPSG	International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Group
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
IUFD	Intrauterine Fetal Death
IR	Insulin Resistance
Kg	Kilogram
Ml	Milliliter
MUAC	Mid-upper Arm Circumference
MoHCDGEC	Ministry of Health, Community Development, Gender, Elderly and Children
МоН	Ministry of Health
MoHSW	Ministry of Health and Social Welfare
NCDs	Non-Communicable Diseases
NIMR	National Institute for Medical Research
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
PIH	Pregnancy Induced Hypertension
T1DM	Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
WHO	World Health Organization

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the study

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a cluster of metabolic diseases characterized by hyperglycemia that results from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or both which is categorized as Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), or gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) (American Diabetes Association [ADA], 2010). Although it is difficult to distinguish the types of diabetes mellitus at onset, the real diagnosis becomes more evident over time (ADA, 2017). Type 1 diabetes mellitus or juvenile-onset diabetes, which is termed as insulin dependent, results from a cellular-mediated autoimmune damage of the beta cells of the pancreas caused by autoimmune response (ADA, 2010). In this case the defense system of the body attacks the insulin-producing beta cells resulting in failure of the body to produce the insulin it needs (International Diabetes Federation [IDF], 2013; ADA, 2010). Type 2 diabetes mellitus is the most common type of diabetes mellitus where the body produces insulin, but the production is either insufficient or uptake is ineffectual, leading to raised levels of glucose in the blood (IDF, 2013; ADA, 2010). At the molecular level, insulin resistance (IR) is usually a failure of insulin signaling, causing inadequate plasma membrane translocation of glucose transporter 4, which is the primary transporter for glucose into the cell to use as energy (Plows et al., 2018). The third type of diabetes mellitus, GDM, aligns with physiological alterations during pregnancy (World Health Organization [WHO], 2013).

Hyperglycemia in pregnancy (HIP) is a common health problem resulting from either preexisting diabetes or development of IR, which is accompanied by impaired glucose tolerance with first recognition during pregnancy (Negrato & Gomes, 2013; WHO, 2013). In other words HIP is defined as any glucose intolerance that is first detected at any time during pregnancy (WHO, 2013; Hod *et al.*, 2015). This study used HIP to include both GDM and DIP, because GDM is not the only form of hyperglycemia which may first be detected during pregnancy, as diabetes in pregnancy (DIP) is a more severe form of HIP in which diagnostic criteria and glucose levels are the same as those for non-pregnant adults (WHO, 2013; Hod *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, it is important to combine both GDM and DIP to include pregnant women with pre-existing diabetes in planning interventions. Moreover, DIP increases complications because of the high level of hyperglycemia and the uncertainty as to whether the onset of hyperglycemia was prior to pregnancy or during pregnancy (Hod *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, HIP should be considered because, in populations with high prevalence of T2DM but do not have access to screening before pregnancy, are at high risk for pre-existing diabetes mellitus (Kjos *et al.*, 1990).

During pregnancy, HIP in a form of GDM occurs due to pregnancy-induced changes in maternal glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity, whereby demand for insulin production on the mother's pancreas increases as pregnancy continues to grow. In most instances, women meet the increased insulin demand, but failure to accommodate results in poor glycemic control (Palani *et al.*, 2014).

Although HIP disappears after delivery if it is due to pregnancy, misdiagnosis and/or mismanagement may lead to short and long-term health risks to the mother and her new born within five to ten years post-delivery (IDF, 2017; Kitzmiller *et al.*, 2007). Up to 36% of women with GDM, may experience abnormal glucose tolerance postpartum, creating a need for both short- and long-term follow-up to prevent poor pregnancy outcomes as well as T2DM, and GDM in subsequent pregnancies (Russell *et al.*, 2006; Tovar *et al.*, 2011; ADA, 2013). Evidence shows that 2.6% to 38% of pregnant women with GDM developed T2DM within 12 weeks following delivery (Carson *et al.*, 2013). Women with HIP experience; abortion/miscarriage (death before 20 weeks of gestation), and/or a pregnancy resulting into preterm birth (birth before 37 weeks of gestation), stillbirth (death after 20 weeks of gestation) and/or neonatal death (death within 28 days of life) (IDF, 2017; Wendland *et al.*, 2012).

Furthermore, these women can deliver a macrosomic baby (> 4 kg at birth) and increase birth trauma (Hartling *et al.*, 2013). Macrosomic infants are at risk of hypoglycemia soon after birth because their bodies continue producing extra insulin in response to the mothers' excess glucose (Plows *et al.*, 2018). Newborns with excessive body fat stores as a result of high maternal sugar levels during pregnancy, often continue to be overweight in childhood and adulthood which may increase the risk of developing non-communicable diseases (NCDs) such as diabetes (Palani *et al.*, 2014). It is also associated with caesarean section resulting from large for gestational babies (Wendland *et al.*, 2012). Hyperglycemia in pregnancy can cause pregnant induced hypertension (PIH), a major risk factor for preeclampsia, which affects 25% of these women, in contrast to 5% of women without preexisting hypertension.

Also, the levels for hypertension may remain elevated beyond 12 weeks postpartum, leading into chronic hypertension (Carson *et al.*, 2013).

Globally, it is estimated that 21.3 million or 16.2% of live births involved women with some form of HIP (IDF, 2017). These estimations show that 86.4% of those cases were due to GDM, 6.2% due to diabetes detected prior to pregnancy and 7.4% due to other types of diabetes (including TIDM and T2DM) first detected in pregnancy (IDF, 2017). The majority (88%) of the HIP cases were in low- and middle-income countries, where access to maternal care is limited. The pooled prevalence of GDM in Africa was 13.6% and 14.28% in the sub-Saharan African region (Muche *et al.*, 2019). The reported high prevalence of HIP (GDM and DIP) globally, and in Africa, specifically, reveals a significant public health concern. The prevalence of different forms of HIP, especially GDM, often varies within a single nation depending on geo-local nuances in demographics, economics and ethnicities. For-example in Tanzania a higher prevalence was reported in urban areas with 18% in Dar es Salaam and about 20% in Kilimanjaro Region (Mwanri *et al.*, 2014; Njete *et al.*, 2018).

The risk factors which predict the development of HIP in a form of GDM include: Family history of diabetes, GDM in previous pregnancy and obesity/overweight (Imoh *et al.*, 2016). Overweight/obesity ≥ 25 kg/m² have been reported to increase from 28% in 2015 to 31.5% in 2018 among women of reproductive age (15-49 years of age) in Tanzania (Ministry of Health, Community Development, Gender, Elderly and Children [MoHCDGEC] *et al.*, 2016; 2018). Hence, specific consideration is required as the majority of women start pregnancy while overweight/obese, which increases their chance of developing NCDs including HIP. On the other hand a woman with tendency of delivery macrosomic babies and/or stillbirth in previous pregnancies, previous intrauterine fetal death (IUFD), and preterm delivery might have HIP in the previous pregnancies which was undiagnosed (Imoh *et al.*, 2016).

In addition, sedentary lifestyles, poor dietary intake, smoking habits, and extreme pregnancy weight gain accompanied by high body fat accumulation, places women at high risk for HIP. This is due to fact that, body fat percentage can alter body composition leading to HIP and other complications, such as pregnancy induced hypertension (PIH) and predisposition of the newborn to overweight or obese later in life (Jensen *et al.*, 2005; Ay *et al.*, 2009). It can also affect fetal growth; therefore, assessment of changes in body fat content is important to understand the effects of maternal health on neonate and future child health (Reilly *et al.*, 2005). The overt symptoms of GDM are rare, making it difficult to identify women who need

testing as it may be difficult to distinguish from normal pregnancy symptoms which need the inclusion of risk factors for easy identification of women who need additional tests. This creates a need for appropriate interventions to screen, prevent and/or manage HIP (IDF, 2017).

The Ministry of Health and Social Welfare (MoHSW) and Tanzania Diabetes Association through the Case Management Desk Guide, which is focusing on chronic NCDs such as cardiovascular disease, T2DM and cancer has included GDM. This guideline included GDM as a risk factor and criteria for screening DM although not well explored (MoHSW & Tanzania Diabetes Association, 2013). In addition, the Standard Treatment and Essential Medicines List guideline has included and reported that GDM screening has to be done using fasting plasma blood and 2 hours oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) as well as management throughout pregnancy and post-delivery (MoHSW, 2013). Although GDM has been included in some guidelines in Tanzania, there is low emphasis on the antennal care (ANC) guidelines which may have contributed to low consideration of GDM in the regular ANC programs offered. This may be attributed by fragmentation of care caused by poor coordination of the health system and/ or emanating costs.

The current Focused Antenatal Care (FANC), has abandoned the traditional ANC (Kearns *et al.*, 2014), which involved numerous visits and accurate identification of high-risk individuals. This traditional ANC was found to present challenges in resource-constrained settings which encouraged the exploration of the FANC model, based on an individualized, targeted approach, to detect complications as they arise (Kearns *et al.*, 2014). This practice fails to recognize that, prevention is better than waiting until when the problem develops and subsequently treating.

Furthermore, the FANC model suggests ANC visits to take place before 12 weeks, at 26 weeks, at 32 weeks, and between 36-38 weeks with a strict checklist of assessments and interventions to be included in each of the four visits (Kearns *et al.*, 2014). This is challenging because, women who do not attend all visits, do not receive important interventions, which may risk the health of both women and newborns. Hence, due to late initiation of ANC or poor attendance (Ramaiya *et al.*, 2018), there is a need to include risk factor identification during the first visit or even before pregnancy for preventative purposes. These factors can help in self-identification before pregnancy and/or assessed during history taking and applied in the counselling session or during the regular ANC education programs.

Early diagnosis and identification of women at risk, is essential for proper management and treatment of GDM to prevent future complications (Mwanri *et al.*, 2014).

The FANC model integrates ANC with care and counselling related to several other conditions and women are immunized against tetanus, tested and treated for anaemia, vitamin A, or iodine deficiencies. They also receive testing and, if necessary, treatment for Human Immunodeficiency Virus or acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS), sexually transmitted infections (STIs), malaria and tuberculosis (Kearns *et al.*, 2014) however, HIP screening and management has not been prioritized among services offered. The Tanzania National Health Policy on the other hand, has put more efforts in expanding, improving and distribution of the reproductive, maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health services to the target population. The main services are related to family planning, pregnancy, sexually transmitted diseases, gender based violence, violence against children, female genital mutilation, harmful traditional practices, breast and cervical cancer screening, prevention and treatment of infertility (MoHCDGEC, 2017). However, HIP (GDM and DIP) is not mentioned as a priority health condition in the health policy while this policy is the source of many health related guidelines.

The implementation of maternal and child health programs in Tanzania may be affected by several drawbacks that have been reported in a study done to assess the capacity and capability of Tanzania health facilities to diagnose and manage GDM. These drawbacks include understaffing, late initiation of ANC and limited screening for GDM due to lack of equipment and supplies (Ramaiya *et al.*, 2018). Also, the facility staffs were under-trained and received fewer refresher courses in diabetes. These ranges from 0–5% for diabetes as compared to hypertension (4–6%), other NCDs (0–16%), Prevention of Mother to Child Transmission (39%), management of postpartum bleeding (31%) and HIV/AIDs (31%) (Ramaiya *et al.*, 2018). These drawbacks may have also affected the screening and management of diabetes including HIP which creates a need to address the existing gaps on screening, managements and knowledge, to better incorporate HIP in the ANC services. Evidence-based findings are thus urgently needed to provide best practice standards for testing, management and care of women with HIP (Hod *et al.*, 2015).

The guidelines for screening HIP in a form of GDM varies from universal to selective methods. The universal screening and diagnosis recommendation include oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) using one step provision of 75 g or two steps provision of 50 g

followed by 100 g of glucose solution, and fasting glucose plasma test (Sharma et al., 2013; International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Group [IADPSG], 2010; WHO, 2013; ADA, 2014). The common selective screening strategies include simple identifiable maternal and clinical risk factors (ADA, 2010). The fasting screening test needs a woman to stay without eating anything for 8-12 hours and OGTT needs a woman to remain in the ANC for more than 2 hours where multiple samples for analysis are needed increasing, the workload of the care providers and testing costs (Agarwal et al., 2011; Pastakia et al., 2017). The risk score can be a good option, but the identification of risk factors may be difficult and complex arithmetic's are involved. Considering the doubling rate of the population and concomitant resource constraints, it is important to determine early predictors of pregnancy complications to plan for early prevention strategies (Lekva et al., 2010). Hence, as HIP contributes to poor pregnancy outcomes, it is important to be given priority like other pregnancy conditions listed in the FANC model. However, due to limited resources there is need to develop a screening method which is sensitive and administrable by lesser trained health workers or self-administered (Agarwal et al., 2011; Utza et al., 2017). This can give priority to high risk women for thorough glucose control before conception for effective preparations before pregnancy, throughout pregnancy, and during post-delivery period.

Early identification of women at risk of HIP and performing additional testing in selected women, minimizes inconvenience for pregnant women, as well as saves time and healthcare costs (WHO, 2013). Hence, cost-effective models must be developed and individualized by country for optimal testing and managing of GDM given their specific burden of disease and resource gaps (Hod *et al.*, 2015). This study therefore, aimed to determine the prevalence of HIP, IR and their determinants to develop a simplified method which can be incorporated in ANC for identification of women with/at risk of GDM to prevent poor pregnancy outcomes where universal screening is challenging. The study also aimed to understand knowledge gaps on HIP, for appropriate intervention to enhance self-care among pregnant women.

1.2 Statement of the problem

Globally, child and maternal mortality is decreasing significantly, although Sub-Saharan Africa continues to have the highest child mortality at about twice the global mortality rate (Morton *et al.*, 2017). In Tanzania, the rate of under-5 mortality has decreased significantly from 81 in 2010 to 67 per 1000 death in 2015 while neonatal mortality has a slower decrease rate from 26 in 2010 to 25 deaths per 1000 in 2015. (National Burew of Statistics [NBS],

2011; MoHCDGEC *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, maternal mortality ratio has increased from 454 in 2010 to 556 deaths per 100 000 live births in 2015 (NBS, 2011; MoHCDGEC *et al.*, 2016). Most of these neonatal and maternal deaths could be prevented by providing high-quality care during pregnancy and at birth, as children are most vulnerable in the first 28 days of life (neonatal period) (Morton *et al.*, 2017). In addition, due to the doubling rate of overweight and obesity among Tanzanian women of reproductive age in urban areas (MoHCDGEC *et al.*, 2016), many women may start pregnancy while overweight or obese which increases their chances of developing NCDs such such as diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases.

Therefore, inaction to maternal and child health agenda may lead to increasing mortality and morbidity burden in the future which can impact the social capital of the nation. In this case, pregnancy as a window of opportunity for maternal and child health, has been given specific consideration in the Sustainable Development Goal number three (SDG 3), to reduce global maternal death to less than 70 per 100 000 live births, end preventable neonatal deaths to atleast 12 per 1000 live births, and children under five years to 25 per 1000 live births (Morton *et al.*, 2017). It also aims to reduce by one third premature mortality from NCDs through prevention and treatments (Morton *et al.*, 2017). This created a need to conduct a study in Arusha District, which has a high prevalence of T2DM especially in urban (22.9%) compared to rural (9.9%) areas, which may, in part, be the aftermath of previously undiagnosed and unmanaged HIP (Masaki *et al.*, 2015). This is because screening and management for HIP are not commonly practiced in ANC in Tanzania. As the progression of HIP to T2DM may augment the T2DM prevalence (Zhu & Zhang, 2016), HIP (GDM and DIP) and its determinants need attention to avert future health impacts.

1.3 Rationale of the study

Screening for HIP is an important step for management however, it has received little attention in Tanzanian ANC guideline as compared to HIV/AIDS, malaria and tuberculosis (Ramaiya *et al.*, 2018) which may be attributed by limited resources. This creates a need for developing a simple selective method with less costs for screening and managements of HIP. It is therefore, important to recognize that, countries opt for their own diagnostic and management criteria due to resource constraints and applicability in their settings. Some guidelines recommend universal screening by oral glucosetolerance test (OGTT) and or fasting blood glucose test for all pregnant women (WHO, 2013) while others exempt low risk

women from testing (ADA, 2010). There is lack of evidence on how universal strategies improve maternal/child health compared to selective strategies, given the increase in associated costs, clinician workloads, and potential inconveniences (Farrar *et al.*, 2017). Hence, the design and implementation of programs to screen and manage HIP need to be determined by individual countries, considering their differences in glucose intolerance, competing priorities, resource availability and gaps.

Several selective screening strategies have been developed in different settings and population groups for detection of undiagnosed diabetes and identification of women at risk. However, most strategies have been developed in Caucasian and Asian populations (Naylor *et al.*, 1997; Caliskan *et al.*, 2004; van Leeuwen *et al.*, 2010; Teede *et al.*, 2011; Sweeting *et al.*, 2017) with few based in African populations (Fawole *et al.*, 2014; Adam & Rheeder, 2017; Nombo *et al.*, 2018). The developed risk scores cannot be generalized due to differences in methods used to identify risk factors which vary across countries depending on the research design, selection of participants and diagnosis criteria used (Adam & Rheeder, 2017). In addition, risks for HIP varies within and across settings due to differences in body composition, lifestyle, health care systems and genetic predisposition among certain high-risk racial/ethnic groups (Kim *et al.*, 2013; Tarquini *et al.*, 2014).

Furthermore, most selective strategies do not consider body fat percentages which is simple to measure for assessing nutritional status during pregnancy compared to pre-pregnancy BMI and or weight gain which depends on an individual's ability to recall her pre-pregnancy weight and early starting of ANC. The previous risk score developed in Tanzania inluded mid upper circumference (MUAC) ≥ 28 cm, previous stillbirth, and family history of T2DM as significant risk factors for GDM, calling for further development of a tool that involves more risk factors such as maternal age, macrosomic delivery, pre-pregnancy BMI, hypertension and pregnancy weight gain (Nombo *et al.*, 2018).

This study therefore, aimed to establish the prevalenc of HIP, IR and associated risk factors to develop a risk score which can be simplified into a cheklist for Tanzania's ANC setting. This can be applied during regular ANC education to enable high risk women understand their condition, to take responsibility of visiting their health practitioners on their own initiative and alter their lifestyles including; poor dietary intake and low physical activities (Koning *et al.*, 2016).

1.4 **Objectives**

1.4.1 General objective

To determine the prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy, insulin resistance, their determinants and knowledge gaps, as well as develop a simplified method for identification of pregnant women at risk of gestational diabetes mellitus in Arusha Urban, Tanzania.

1.4.2 Specific objectives

- (i) To determine the prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women attending selected ANC sites in Arusha Urban.
- (ii) To assess risk factors associated with hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women attending select ANC sites in Arusha Urban.
- (iii) To determine the prevalence of insulin resistance among pregnant women attending selected ANC sites in Arusha Urban.
- (iv) To assess the determinants of insulin resistance among pregnant women attending selected ANC sites in Arusha Urban.
- (v) To assess knowledge regarding hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women attending selected ANC sites in Arusha Urban.
- (vi) To develop a risk score for selective screening of pregnant women at risk of gestational diabetes mellitus in selected ANC sites in Arusha Urban.

1.5 Research questions

- (i) What is the prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy and its associated factors among women in Arusha Urban?
- (ii) What is the prevalence of insulin resistance and its relationship with hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women in Arusha Urban?
- (iii) What is the level of knowledge on hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women in Arusha Urban?

- (iv) Which risk factors were included in the model and how many women with GDM were identified using risk scores in Arusha Urban?
- (v) What is the performance of the risk score in identification women at risk of GDM compared to fasting, urine and OGTT methods in Arusha Urban?

1.6 Significance of the study

The study determined prevalence of HIP (that is GDM and DIP) among women attending ANC in Arusha, Tanzania and developed a risk score which was simplified into a checklist for rapid identification of women with or at risk of GDM. The developed checklist can help in selective screening to give priority to the high-risk women when resources are limited while improving evidence-based treatments and practices in Tanzania. The study also established the prevalence of IR and provided information on the level of HIP knowledge among pregnant women in Arusha. This helps to build knowledge of HIP in Tanzania to prevent poor pregnancy outcomes and mitigate associated long-term health effects. This approach provides evidence to the policy makers to potentiate future application in the country for appropriate and cost-effective interventions for testing HIP and provision of knowledge for enhancing self-care to improve management.

1.7 Delineation of the study

This cross sectional study was done to establish the prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy (HIP) to include both gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and diabetes in pregnancy (DIP) as well as insulin resistance (IR) and their associated risk factors. These helped to develop a simplified selective screening strategy for early identification of pregnant women at risk of GDM to give priority to high risk women for proper use of limited resources.

Knowledge on HIP was also assessed to understand the gaps for evidence based intervention to be planned to enhance self-care among pregnant women. The study covered urban areas of Arusha City with high prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus which may be partly attributed by undiagnosed and unmanaged HIP. The study involved 468 randomly selected pregnant women at second and third trimesters, attending ANC at Kaloleni and Ngarenaro health centers in 2018.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 An overview of the study

Hyperglycemia in pregnancy is a public health problem that affects a significant portion of the population. The incidence of HIP increases in the presence of identifiable predisposing factors and, concomitantly decreases in the absence of risk factors, suggesting selective screening to be a cost-effective option in population health determination (Ben-Haroush *et al.*, 2003). Higher prevalence of HIP in women with at least one risk factor compared to the general population implies that selective screening and/or counselling of high-risk groups could be a better option in sub-Saharan Africa due to limited resources. However, the use of selective screening needs to establish a simple, suitable and acceptable strategy for identifying women at risk in sub-Saharan Africa (Mwanri *et al.*, 2015). Hence, Tanzania, as a resource-constrained sub-Saharan country, needs a simple to apply with less cost method for early identification and management of GDM to prevent its short- and long -term effects to the mother and her newborn.

2.2 Etiology of hyperglycemia in pregnancy in forms of gestational diabetes mellitus

During a normal pregnancy, the mother's body undergoes a series of physiological changes to support the demand of the growing fetus including; adaptation of the cardiovascular, renal, hematologic, respiratory, and metabolic systems. An important metabolic adaptation is insulin sensitivity, which changes in accordance with varying needs over the course of pregnancy. During the early gestational stage, insulin sensitivity increases, promoting the uptake of glucose into the adipose stores to prepare for the future energy demands of the pregnancy however, as pregnancy proceeds, placental hormones promote a state of IR (Di-Cianni *et al.*, 2003; Catalano *et al.*, 1991).

Hence, pregnancy is associated with IR and hyperinsulinemia which may predispose women to develop GDM (Alfadhli, 2015). Insulin resistance during pregnancy is the inability of a defined concentration of insulin to affect an expected biological response of nutrient metabolism at the level of the target tissue, which result from increased maternal adiposity and insulin-desensitizing effects of placental hormones (Lain & Catalano, 2007; Buchanan & Xiang, 2005). This occurs when pancreatic β -cells are unable to produce sufficient insulin to offset IR which starts near mid-pregnancy and persists in the third trimester to levels similar to T2DM individuals (WHO, 2013; Buchanan & Xiang, 2005). If IR becomes dominant, the women develop hyperglycemia with IR increasing progressively until delivery, when it often quickly disappears in most cases (Ben-Haroush *et al.*, 2003).

As pregnancy progresses, the production of placental hormones, such as estrogen, progesterone, cortisol, and lactogen also increases, hindering the functions of insulin and gradually reducing insulin sensitivity to 50% of the expected value (McLachlan *et al.*, 2006). These placental hormones cause enlargement of the islets of Langerhan cells and/or the hyperplasia of the pancreatic β -cells (Ramiya *et al.*, 2000) to increase the secretion of more insulin, resulting in compensated hyperinsulinaemia (Ryan *et al.*, 1985).

In addition to placental hormones, many metabolic changes during pregnancy increase adipose tissue which produces numerous adipocytokines which can act as hormones involved in regulation of maternal metabolism and gestational IR like adipokines (tumor necrosis factor [TNF]-alpha and leptin). These can impair insulin signaling which leads into to IR condition (Wiznitzer *et al.*, 2009; Retnakaran *et al.*, 2009; Palani *et al.*, 2014). Insufficient insulin secretion to offset the decreased insulin sensitivity may result in development of GDM (Palani *et al.*, 2014).

The fasting plasma glucose, leptin, progesterone and cortisol significantly increase, as evidenced by pregnant women who develop GDM as the rate of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake is reduced by up to 54% in GDM affected women (Ngala *et al.*, 2017; Catalano, 2014). As GDM and T2DM share a similar genetic background, and IR represents an important risk factor for T2DM (Kwak *et al.*, 2012), screening for IR can be a strategy for identifying high-risk women for appropriate actions to be taken to prevent GDM and T2DM. With this association, there is a need to establish the prevalence of HIP and IR, given the high prevalence of T2DM that is reported in urban areas of Arusha Region (Masaki *et al.*, 2015).

2.3 Risk factors for insulin resistance and hyperglycemia in pregnancy

Hyperglycemia in pregnancy is related to potential risk factors such as history of stillbirths, high parities, MUAC > 28 cm, family history of diabetes, advanced maternal age, and overweight/obesity (i.e., BMI > 25 kg/m²) (Asare-anane *et al.*, 2014; Buhling *et al.*, 2004; Mwanri *et al.*, 2014). Most women with GDM are obese however, those who are not obese

by traditional weight criteria may have an increased percentage of body fat distributed predominantly in the abdominal region which increases the risk of GDM (ADA, 2010).

Pregnancy is associated with increased maternal adiposity and storage of carbohydrate and fat, possibly as an evolutionary adaptation to facilitate successful lactation. If body fat accumulation becomes excessive, it may cause diabetes mellitus, high blood pressure, or other complications during pregnancy (Ay *et al.*, 2009). Studies on people with T2DM have identified that, fat deposition within skeletal muscle and liver cells is a major contributory factor to IR but, it is not well explored on whether fat deposition during pregnancy explains the development of IR (Ravikumar *et al.*, 2005).

Pregnancy BMI reported as degrees of overweight or obesity is a commonly used indicator to determine nutrition status in pregnancy; though, it does not distinguish between fat and lean body mass (Kotnik & Golja, 2012). In addition to late staring of the ANC, most women start their pregnancy without knowing their weights, making it difficult to estimate their BMI and weight gain during pregnancy which is strongly correlated with fat mass change (Berggren *et al.*, 2016). Measuring body fat content is very important because, in addition to fat and lean body mass, the fetal mass and amniotic fluid represent unknown contributions to the total body mass, which are not distinguished by BMI calculation (Fakier, *et al.*, 2017). However, more exploration of the appropriate stage in pregnancy at which body fat percentage can be estimated is needed.

Monitoring a total weight gain could be a good indicator and simple to determine but, it is based on the pre-pregnancy BMI which also relies on ability of the pregnant women to recall her pre-pregnancy weight. Weight during pregnancy can also be estimated before 16 weeks of gestation which depends on early initiation of the first ANC visit (Institute of Medicine [IOM], 2009; Siega-Riz *et al.*, 2009), but is often impractical in Tanzania's ANC context where most of the women cannot recall their pre-pregnancy weights and start the first ANC visit late (Mwanri *et al.*, 2014). The delayed start of the first ANC visit is one of the challenges in FANC guideline implementation in Tanzania where only 20% of women attended their first ANC visit during the first trimester of pregnancy (Kearns *et al.*, 2014).

Dietary intakes before and during pregnancy can influence glucose level of the woman (Macaulay *et al.*, 2014), which depends on the type of food and nutritional contents. High glycemic index (GI) foods, including rice, white bread, and potatoes, cause a sharp rise in

blood glucose levels which decline rapidly. On the other hand low GI foods; such as fruits or dairy products, introduce slowly digestible carbohydrates which result in a lower postprandial glucose response (Brouns *et al.*, 2005; Zhang *et al.*, 2006). There is a significant positive associations of maternal dietary heme iron intake with the risk of GDM potentially due to the predominant heme-iron contribution from animal sources, including red meat and poultry which are also increasing the effects of fat accumulation hence HIP (Qiu *et al.*, 2011).

Some vitamin deficiencies may increase the risk of HIP, such as Vitamin D which is a fatsoluble hormone known to play a role in maintaining calcium homeostasis and bone integrity including its role in glucose metabolism, angiogenesis, inflammation and immune function. It also regulates gene transcription and expression (Mousa *et al.*, 2015) however, micronutrients assessments need more resources for laboratory analysis. As they can simply be included in dietary counselling, there is no need of including them in screening strategies.

Advanced maternal age is an established risk factor for GDM, and may be a result of agerelated changes, which are particularly characterized by an impaired response to glucose challenge, which is partly due to physical inactivity and a decrease in muscle mass. This may have a similar effect on IR in pregnant women, which needs more exploration (Kuo *et al.*, 2017). Studies done in Bangladesh and India have reported that, the odd of GDM is increasing with age > 25 years (Begum *et al.*, 2017; Seshiah *et al.*, 2008).

Family history of T2DM has been reported as a potential determinant for GDM in several studies in Africa and outside Africa (Asare-anane *et al.*, 2014; Nombo *et al.*, 2018). The influence of T2DM on development of GDM may be due to genetic predisposition as a result of belonging from high-risk racial/ethnic groups (Tarquini *et al.*, 2014). This have been reported in Bangladesh that, 74.4% of the GDM patients had family history of DM compared to 39.1% among normal pregnant women (Monir *et al.*, 2018). This shows how family history of diabetes contributes highly in the development of GDM. Hence, early identification of these women even before pregnancy could help to lower the risk of developing GDM and later on T2DM through controlling of their lifestyles (Monir *et al.*, 2018).

The association between parity and diabetes is strongly linked to obesity and age. Women with higher parity normally are older and more obese (Dode & dos Santo, 2009). Obesity is an intermediate outcome in the causal pathway between parity and GDM, possibly a facilitating factor; however, age is a potential confounder in the relationship between parity

and GDM (Dode & dos Santo, 2009). Likewise, parity is not directly linked to insulin sensitivity deterioration, to fasting plasma glucose increase during pregnancy, or to the occurrence of GDM, though it is linked through the mediation of progressive ageing and weight gain either before or during pregnancy (Seghieri *et al.*, 2005).

Preeclampsia is defined as a new onset of hypertension with blood pressure consistently > 140/90 mmHg in previously normotensive women and new onset proteinuria (defined as > 300 mg per 24 hours or > 2+ by dipstick) occurring after the 20^{th} week of gestation accompanied by the presence of edema (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists [ACOG], 2003). Insulin sensitivity in late normal pregnancy is 45% to 70% lower than that of non-pregnant women; however, it plays a major role in T2DM development and in the pathogenesis of hypertension, dyslipidemias, and coronary artery diseases (Cunningham *et al.*, 2010; ACOG, 2003). Almost all obese women with hypertension have elevated insulin and the highest levels occur in obese women with excessive abdominal adipose tissues (Cunningham *et al.*, 2010; ACOG, 2003).

Also, in pregnant women, obesity is a consistent risk factor for preeclampsia. Insulin resistance may lead to hypertension by changes in the levels of intracellular sympathetic nervous system over activity and renal sodium retention (Kaplan, 1994). Maternal mid-trimester IR increased significantly with increasing BMI and subsequent preeclampsia which is a combination of hypertension, proteinuria and edema (Hauth *et al.*, 2011). Women who develop preeclampsia have higher insulin levels before clinical evidence of disease than women who remain normotensive during pregnancy (Malek-Khosravi & Kaboudi, 2004). This creates a need for early identification of women at risk of the conditions for appropriate interventions to prevent short- and long-term health effects to the mother and her newborn.

Increased maternal adiposity, as a result of high fat accumulation and placental hormones, is attributed to insulin-desensitizing effects which lead to gestational insulin resistance. Additionally, both increase pre-pregnancy BMI and weight gain during pregnancy are positively associated with gestational insulin resistance and obesity is a risk factor for GDM (Catalan *et al.*, 1998; McIntyre *et al.*, 2020).

2.4 Knowledge of hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women

Hyperglycemia in pregnancy is increasing in different parts of Sub-Saharan Africa including Tanzania. Despite the increasing prevalence of HIP and its effects, the majority of the pregnant women, and other community members may be unaware of its existence, risk factors, and its associated consequences which may delay diagnosis, prevention and management. As knowledge is an important component of health literacy, insufficient knowledge about any disease leads to poor understanding of medical information limiting adherence to management strategies and, in the case of GDM, may contribute to adverse pregnancy and post-natal outcomes (Koning *et al.*, 2016; Baker, 2006). Adequate knowledge about HIP will potentiate opportunities to adopt healthier lifestyles and better healthcare-seeking patterns (Elamurugan & Arounassalame, 2016).

This needs attention from healthcare providers to raise awareness among pregnant women as undiagnosed and unmanaged GDM may subject the women and newborns to increased health effects (Staynova *et al.*, 2017; Lehnen *et al.*, 2013). A study done in Ghana showed a significant relationship between knowledge and risk factors which implies that the higher the level of knowledge on GDM and on its risk factors leads to proper management and lastly better outcomes (Azu & Essel, 2017). Another study done to assess the perceived risk of GDM using theoretical models of risk perception found that, women who had greater perceptions of risk, more often intended to improve their behavior in the future (Kim *et al.*, 2007). Another study reported that, having a higher 2 hours OGTT value in pregnancy was associated with higher rates of return, since women are generally aware of the risk of developing T2DM after having a GDM diagnosis (Zera *et al.*, 2013).

In Tanzania, there is limited evidence regarding knowledge about HIP, which leads to a research imperative to assess knowledge among pregnant women. It is important to understand that, knowledge on a disease and its consequences can lead to behavior change as it makes an individual to understand or become aware of the condition, its effects and prevention strategies. Therefore, a person can take actions accordingly to prevent the occurrence of the condition, leading to a new behavior development. This can be explained by behavior change model which demonstrates how knowledge may cause an individual to be aware on different aspects of the condition and decide to take actions to change behaviors accordingly (Fig. 1).



Figure 1: General behavior change model (Hungerford & Volk, 1990)

The interaction between knowledge and behavior change can be explained well by the Health Belief Model (HBM) (Irwin, 1974; Janz & Marshall, 1988). The HBM is a cognitive model suggesting that, behavior is determined by beliefs about threats to an individual's well-being, as well as the effectiveness and outcomes of particular actions or behaviors (Irwin, 1974; Janz & Marshall, 1988). This model was developed to understand the reasons for failure of people to adopt disease prevention strategies or screening tests for early detection of disease, which relates much with the current study.

The HBM explains that, after having knowledge of the condition, behavior change occurs when people feel to be personally vulnerable to the health threat or condition, and view the possible consequences of the condition as severe. People must see that, taking action may either prevent or reduce the risk at an acceptable cost with few barriers. In addition, a person must have self-efficacy to execute and maintain the new behaviors (Irwin, 1974; Janz & Marshall, 1988) (Fig. 2). At this point, internal and external factors are required to ensure that the acquired behavior is maintained. These factors may include different sources of information such as media, relatives, family and in the case of pregnant women, the regular ANC education program can be an external factor.



Figure 2: The health belief model (Irwin, 1974; Janz & Marshall, 1988)

2.5 Methods of screening for gestational diabetes mellitus

Timely diagnosis of GDM is the first step towards effective management and prevention of adverse outcomes however, the case detection of GDM in sub-Saharan Africa remains substandard (Macaulay *et al.*, 2014; Mwanri *et al.*, 2015). The WHO has adopted the criteria developed by the International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Group (IADPSG) for the diagnosis of GDM which recommends universal screening of all pregnant women using OGTT and/or fasting blood glucose test (Metzger *et al.*, 2010; Wendland *et al.*, 2012).

The use of OGTT and/or fasting blood glucose test may also be a good approach but has limited applicability for GDM screening in resource constrained sub-Saharan Africa where the testing requirements are prohibitive and/or inconvenient for the women who must travel long distances, for ANC in fasting state and incur additional transport costs (Ntui *et al.*, 2013; Mrisho *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, women who are not informed during an earlier visit or forget to come in fasting state, require a successive visit for the test. Several samples are required for glucose testing which becomes a burden to the woman and healthcare personnel (Agarwal *et al.*, 2011). The associated costs for IADPSG testing standards are unaffordable by the

majority of low-income clients and the method requires women to stay at the ANC for more than two hours without eating (Agarwal *et al.*, 2011; WHO, 2013).

On the other hand, universal screening by using fasting serum insulin can be a sensitive method because the main mechanism for HIP is dysfunction of pancreatic beta cells, manifesting in IR during pregnancy (Reece *et al.*, 2009). Hence, this indicator could be a helpful parameter in individualization of treatment and early prevention of complications, but it is very expensive compared to other methods and often not applicable to scarce resource settings.

A formal risk assessment for GDM could be undertaken at the first prenatal visit and for the women with high risk of GDM with clinical characteristics, such as obesity, personal history of GDM, glycosuria, advanced maternal age, strong family history of IR and/or diabetes should undergo glucose testing as soon as feasible (Plows *et al.*, 2018; ADA, 2010). It may not be a proper use of limited resources to screen women at low risk, such as < 25 years of age, normal body weight, no family history of diabetes or abnormal glucose metabolism, and no history of poor obstetric outcome (ADA, 2010).

A risk score can be used in limited resources, but accurate identification of risk factors may be difficult. This made FANC to change from the traditional risk identification with more numbers of ANC visits, due to high or nearly similar costs to the existing model. However, the current FANC is still facing challenges in implementation of its guideline in Tanzania's ANC due to limited resources (Kearns *et al.*, 2014). This may have contributed largely to poor consideration of GDM screening and management in the guideline as extra resources may be required following the costs associated with the recommended universal screening by OGTT and/or fasting glucose tests (WHO, 2013). In this case, the available resources can be used to high risk women while planning for universal testing. Hence, due to limited resources, risk score can be simplified into a factors checklist which can be easily understood by health care workers and women of reproductive age for self-identification and care. This approach could provide a simple and easily up taken intervention that will articulate with plans for universal screening.

Although many risk scores have been developed in different settings, the establishment of a scoring system should be country specific due to differences in the levels of fat adiposity, glucose intolerance, and ability to cover the associated costs (Kim *et al.*, 2013; Farrar *et al.*,

2017). To be more effective, the developed risk scores should be simplified for easy of interpretation and application by the health care providers and women themselves to promote self-care among pregnant women.





CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Description of the study area

Arusha Region is one of Tanzania's 31 administrative regions with a total population of 1 694 310 (NBS, 2013). The capital city of Arusha has a total population of 416 442 plus 323 198 people living in Arusha District (NBS, 2012). The region is bordered by Kajiado and Narok County in Kenya to the North, Kilimanjaro Region to the East, Manyara and Singida regions to the South, Mara and Simiyu Regions to the West. Arusha Urban (City Council) is one of the seven districts of the Arusha Region which is bordered to the South, West and North by Arusha Rural District and to the East by Meru District (Fig. 4).

The city has 6 hospitals, 15 health centers, 64 dispensaries and 25 specialized facilities. Among these facilities 56 have ANC of which 24 has both ANC and delivery services. The city has a total number of 26 167 pregnant women who started first ANC visits in 2018 (District Health Information System [DHIS], 2018). The study was conducted in two health centers with a total number of 10 422 pregnant women who started first visits in 2018 (DHIS, 2018).



Figure 4: Arusha map indicating the study area (NBS, 2012)
3.2 Study design

This was a cross-sectional study that was conducted in urban areas of Arusha City between March and December 2018. This involved pregnant women attending ANC at Ngarenaro and Kaloleni Health Centers. These centers were selected among 24 health facilities which offer both, ANC and delivery services. The two centers have a total of 10 422 out of 26 167 pregnant women which is about 40% of all women who started their first ANC visit in Arusha City (DHIS, 2018). Two centers were purposive selected due to their central location in the district, and enabling services reach for the largest number of pregnant women.

3.3 The study population

3.3.1 Inclusion criteria

The study included pregnant women at the second and third trimesters between 24-36 weeks of gestation as HIP is defined as any glucose intolerance that is first detected at any time during pregnancy (ADA, 2018; WHO, 2013).

3.3.2 Exclusion criteria

The study excluded pregnant women with diabetes before pregnancy and are under- diabetes management or treatments. All women who were unwilling to participate or provide consent were excluded from the study.

3.4 Sample size determination

Eligible women were selected with assistance of the nurses' in-charge at each participating site until a total of 468 women were recruited to the study. This sample size was obtained using the formula for prevalence studies (Daniel, 1999):

$$n = [z^2 * p^* q]/d^2$$

Where: n = desired sample size

Z = standard normal deviation set at 1.96 corresponding to 95% CI

q = 1.0 - p

d = degree of accuracy desired (0.05)

p= proportion of the target population with HIP

Due to limited national data for prevalence of HIP (GDM and DIP), and the assumption of a high risk of HIP for a transitioning urban population, p = 50 % was used as the prevalence to capture the maximum reality (MacFarlane, 1997). The response rate was assumed to be 78%; yielding a consideration of 20% non-respondent rate. The percentage for non-response was set due to the experience from a study done in Kilimanjaro where the rate of loss to follow up for the subsequent testing was > 20% (Njete *et al.*, 2018).

3.5 Sampling techniques

Purposive sampling was employed to obtain one district located in urban area out of seven districts of Arusha Region. Two ANC centers (Ngarenaro and Kaloleni) were purposively selected from the 24 facilities with both ANC and delivery services due to the large number of pregnant women (40%) accessing ANC services from across the District in 2018. Proportionate sampling was used to select pregnant women from the two ANCs to ensure a total of 468 respondents where by 31% of the pregnant women were selected from Kaloleni and 69% from Ngarenaro. These women were stratified by age (< 25 years and \geq 25 years of age) to avoid the selection of women from one age category which might be at low or high risk only. Random selection using a table of random numbers was done to obtain 468 pregnant women who met the inclusion criteria. Due to high number of women attending ANC per day, a maximum of 12 pregnant women were selected per day. Among the 468 pregnant women who were sampled, half of them were randomly selected for IR testing whereby 230 pregnant women were included while four women were excluded as their blood samples coagulated before laboratory tests were performed.

3.6 Data collection and laboratory analysis

3.6.1 Training of the research assistants and pretesting of research tools

Before the actual data collection processes, nurses and research assistants who were nutritionists with enough experience on human research, were trained on the study protocol and how to use the research tools. The training was done for five days using English and Kiswahili language and the questionnaire was translated to Kiswahili as well. After the training, all trainees were involved in pretesting the tools with 20 randomly selected women from Ngarenaro health facility who were not part of the study and the resultant data was not included in the actual study. The pre-test results were discussed, and appropriate changes were made to improve the research tools (Appendix 1).

3.6.2 Recruitment and overall data collection procedure

The study was introduced to pregnant women who met the selection criteria. A total of 500 pregnant women were recruited of which 94% (n=468) consented to participate in the study. The remained 6% (n=32) of the pregnant women could not consent after explanation of the whole data collection procedure including, harms and benefits of participating in the study. These women complained on the costs that may arise if several visits would be required for subsequent testing. They also complained on the long time that is required to complete all data collection procedure especially the OGTT which required women to stay in the facility for more than two hours.

After women have consented, those who come while fasting were tested for fasting plasma glucose and performed the OGTT procedure in the same day. During assessments half of the women in each day were randomly selected from the same group for venous blood samples collection to test for IR. Selected women were also interviewed in the same day to reduce transport costs. Women who consented but came while eaten food, were requested to come the next day while fasting for 8-12 hours where all the assessments would be done. These women were given a tag with the number of researchers for confirmation on the exactly day of retuning to avoid taking large number of women in a day. Majority of the women who were selected and agreed to come another day for assessments, were requested to go back home without performing their regular ANC assessments so that they can be served when they return to participate in the study. In this way loss for follow- up tests was minimized.

During the assessments, women started with fasting glucose test, followed by urine and venous blood samples collection. Thereafter, women were provided with 75 g of glucose powder dissolved in 300 ml of clean water to test for OGTT. Disposable cups were used for drinking glucose solution to avoid sharing of utensils. Women were requested to finish drinking their solution within five minutes. For time management after glucose consumption, each woman was given a tag which indicated the time at which glucose was consumed and the time for the second test. Their names and times after glucose consumption were recorded by the researchers for reminder.

During the two hours waiting for OGTT testing, interviews and other assessments, such as anthropometric measurements, and normal ANC services were conducted. This helped to minimize time for commitment and encourage compliance. All pregnant women with high fasting glucose levels (\geq 5.1 mmol/L) were requested to come for another fasting test in the next day or within a week to confirm. After confirmation, all women with HIP were advised and refereed to the doctor for further actions to be taken. After referrals, all pregnant women with HIP were followed up through phones to know their progress and provide them with advices accordingly (Fig. 5).



Figure 5: Flow chart for recruitment and data collection procedure

3.6.3 Assessment of demographic characteristics and selected risk factors for hyperglycemia in pregnancy

Recalled information with respect to weight before pregnancy, previous birth modalities (caesarian section or normal delivery), family history of T2DM, previous history of GDM, symptoms of T2DM, and previous delivery to babies with ≥ 4 kg at birth (macrosomic) were collected through face-to-face interviews using a questionnaire with structured questions (Appendix 1).

Other clinical and maternal characteristics, such as age, previous history of stillbirth, neonatal death, gravidity, education level, occupation, marital status, and weight during the first antenatal visit were obtained from the participants' ANC records and confirmed by the women through face to face interviews. Gestational age was estimated using the last menstrual period as reported by pregnant woman during her first ANC visit and for those who could not remember their last menstrual period, ultrasound assessment was conducted.

3.6.4 Laboratory assessments for hyperglycemia in pregnancy and insulin resistance among pregnant women

(i) Blood samples collection

The fasting capillary blood samples were taken using a finger prick with a sterile lancet after cleaning the site with an antiseptic alcohol swab. Additionally, 5 mls of fasting venous blood was taken from 50% of the randomly selected participants using a sterile syringe and drawn out of the syringe into vacutainer tubes containing no anticoagulant. Venous blood samples were stored in a cool box and transported to the Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology laboratory to analyze insulin concentrations for determining IR. Urine samples were also collected using disposable hospital urine sample containers (60 ml) in the morning and tested for glucose and protein The fasting capillary blood samples were tested for glucose within five minutes after drawn and 2 hours followed the consumption of glucose solution.

(ii) Test for hyperglycemia in pregnancy

Fasting blood glucose and OGTT were tested using Gluco-plusTM (Glucoplus Inc. 2323 Halpern, Ville St. Laurent, Quebec, Canada). The capillary plasma glucose values obtained were converted to venous plasma glucose using the regression equation developed for diabetes screening in the low resource areas where venous blood test is challenging (Bhavadharini *et al.*, 2016). Women with fasting blood glucose levels \geq 5.1mmol/L were requested to return the next day for another fasting glucose test. All women with < 7 1 mmol/L were requested to consume 75 g of glucose dissolved in 300 ml of water and stayed for 2 hours without eating, after which capillary blood was measured for levels of plasma glucose (WHO, 2013).

Women were classified as having HIP if they met the criteria for either DIP and/or GDM. Women with GDM were classified as having fasting plasma glucose (5.1-6.9 mmol/l (92 - 125 mg/dl), or a 2-hour plasma glucose (8.5-11.0 mmol/l (153 -199 mg/dl) following a 75gram oral glucose load. In addition, women with DIP were classified by fasting plasma glucose \geq 7.0 mmol/l (126 mg/ dl) and/or 2-hours plasma glucose \geq 11.1 mmol/l (200 mg/dl) following a 75 g oral glucose load (WHO, 2013). Urine samples were tested within one hour using multi-sticks with color sensitive pads (Urine strips 388-25, Gomo-ro, Gimhae-si, Gyeongsangnam-do, 621-881, Korea). All women identified with HIP were referred to the doctor for further actions and follow-up were done through phone calls, messages and physically during their ANC visits.

(iii) Tests for insulin resistance

Serum was obtained by centrifuging (Eppendorf Centrifuge 3500R) the blood sample for 15 minutes, separated from clot by pipetting the supernatant into vials, and stored in the refrigerator at -80°C before analysis (Tuck *et al.*, 2009). Serum insulin concentrations were measured using a Synergy/HTXTM (BioTek instrument, Inc. Highland Park Winooski, VT 05404-0998, USA) machine with Human Serum Crystal ChemTM (Crystal Chem Inc. Elk Grove USA) high performance assays as explained in the procedure below.

(iv) Preparation of reagents according to the manufacturer's instructions

- (a) The instruction manual from the ELISA kits manufacturer was read, discussed, and well understood by the researcher and the laboratory technician before the actual analysis (Fig. 6).
- (b) The antibody-coated micro plate was provided as ready to use.
- (c) The standards were provided by manufactures in lyophilized form and diluted by 1.0 ml of de-ionized water. This involved 1-6 standards in the concentrations of (0, 3, 10, 30, 110 and 220 mU/L) which sat for 5 minutes at room temperature and then were mixed gently to dissolve all solid particles.
- (d) The controls provided were also diluted by 1.0 ml of de-ionized water, allowed to sit for 5 minutes at room temperature and then mixed gently to make all solids dissolve. These were provided in the concentration of 13:150 mU/L.

- (e) The provided HPR binding labeled antibody was also diluted in the ratio of 1:12 using a provided ready to use diluent and mixed thoroughly.
- (f) The wash buffer provided was 30x concentrate requiring dilution with distilled water in ratio of 1:30 (i.e., 50 ml were diluted by 1450 ml of distilled water).
- (g) The substrate and stop solutions were provided as ready to use.



Figure 6: Internalizing the instruction manual for preparation of analytical reagents

(v) Assay procedure (aliquot)

- (a) Before running the assay, all reagents and samples were brought to room temperature to sit for 5 minutes and then introduced in the VortexTM (mixer) for thorough mixing.
- (b) The samples were run in duplicate.

- (c) In each well of the antibody-coated micro plate, a 100 µl of HPR labeled antibody solution was added followed by 25 µl of the sample, standard, control and mixed well by repeated pipetting.
- (d) The wells were covered with a plate sealer and incubated for 2 hours at 37^{0} C.
- (e) The contents were well aspirated and washed three times in an AccuwashTM machine using 300 μ l of wash buffer per well.
- (f) After washing, 100 μl of substrate solution was added in each well and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature in a dark place.
- (g) The reaction was stopped by adding $100 \ \mu l$ of the stop solution (Fig. 7).
- (h) The plates were placed in a Biotech biosciences Synergy/HTXTM ELISA machine and absorbance were measured within 30 minutes using a plate reader (measured at A₄₅₀ and A₆₃₀ values) and mean difference was obtained (Fig. 8).
- (i) A computer software was used to construct the insulin calibration curve by plotting the mean change in absorbance values for each calibrator on the Y-axis versus the corresponding insulin concentration on the X-axis. This formed a typical standard curve with equation for calculating insulin concentration in each plate (Fig. 9).
- (j) From the above standard equation, that is Y=0.013x -0.0566, the concentrations for each sample in a plate (represented by X) was calculated given the values of Y (Absorbance).
- (k) Then insulin concentration was interpolated using the calibration curve and the mean of each absorbance values for each sample and insulin concentration was expressed in mU/L.



Figure 7: Addition of stop solution to stop the reaction



Figure 8: A plate placed in an ELISA machine for reading



Figure 9: The graph for absorbance's against the standard concentrations

Lastly, IR was calculated using the Homeostasis Model Assessment (HOMA-IR) formula (Matthews *et al.*, 1985) and defined by a HOMA-IR score ≥ 2.5 (Longo-Mbenza *et al.*, 2011).

 $HOMA - IR = \frac{fasting serum insulin (mU/L) * (fasting blood glucose (mmol/L)}{22.5}$

3.6.5 Anthropometric assessments

Mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC) was measured using a non-stretchable standard tape. The participant stood upright with the weight evenly distributed on both feet with shoulders relaxed, and the arms hanging loosely at the sides. Some studies reported that MUAC may be used instead of BMI due to its relative stability during the course of pregnancy and high correlation with pre-pregnancy BMI (Fakier, *et al.*, 2017; Gale *et al.*, 2007). Women were categorized as normal with a MUAC of < 28 cm and overweight with MUAC \geq 28 cm.

Weight was measured with minimal clothing and without shoes using a digital bathroom weighing scale (SECA-Germany), placed on a flat surface. The participants were requested to stand on the center of the scale platform facing the recorder and looking straight ahead. Two measurements were taken and recorded to the nearest 0.1 kg.

Height was measured using a stadiometer (Shorr Productions, Maryland USA) where the participant was requested to stand up straight against the backboard with the body weight evenly distributed and both feet flat on the platform, with the heels placed together and toes apart. The back of the head, shoulder blades, buttocks and heels were made to contact with the backboard. The head was aligned in the Frankfort horizontal plane and the stadiometer head piece was lowered to rest firmly on top of the participant's head, with sufficient pressure to compress the hair. The measurements were taken in duplicate and recorded at the nearest 0.1 cm.

This measured height together with recalled pre-pregnancy weight were used to calculate the pre-pregnancy BMI of the women where only 238 pregnant women were able to recall their pre-pregnancy weight. Weight during the first visit could not be used to calculate BMI due to late initiation of the ANC (usually at 18 weeks gestation as observed in this study). The per-pregnancy data for calculating pre-pregnancy weight may have shown biases due to either over or underestimation during recalling. The pre-pregnancy BMI was calculated by the weight of individual in kilogram per meter squares and subject with BMI < 18.5 kg/m² was classified as underweight, 18.5-24.9 kg/m² as normal, 25-29.9 kg/m² overweight and \geq 30 kg/m² obese (WHO, 2006).

Body fat percentage was determined using a bioelectric impedance analyzer (Tanita TBF 105 Fat Analyzer[™]), which included adjustments for age, weight, and height (Fig. 10). The body fat percentage values were treated as continuous variables due to lack of established classification criteria for pregnancy. The presence of edema was also assessed through physical or clinical observations by qualified ANC personnel.



Figure 10: Measurement of body fat percentage

Blood pressure was measured using a GT-868UF Geratherm[™] machine on the left midupper- arm, while the participant was sitting and relaxed for 10 minutes before the actual measurement. Two measurements of blood pressure were done at an interval of five minutes and the average was recorded. Blood pressure was classified using the Standard treatment guidelines and essential medicines list categories of systolic 140 to 159 mmHg or diastolic 90 to 99 mmHg (MoHSW, 2013).

3.6.6 Assessment of knowledge on hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women

Knowledge on HIP was assessed using a questionnaire which was administered through face to face interviews. Information collected on knowledge included respondents' views on the meaning, symptoms, consequences, and risk factors for HIP. Common practices used to screen and manage HIP in their previous pregnancies, such as testing methods, follow up after diagnosis, and management practices were also assessed using questionnaire which included both closed- and open-ended questions. This information was assessed to know the previous experiences of the women on the services provided to get evidence to recommend for an intervention. This information helps to understand other sources of health information and how knowledge can influence behavior change during implementation of screening and management strategies. Moreover, as the study aimed to develop a tool that can be used by both healthcare providers and women themselves, it was important to understand their knowledge about HIP for effective implementation of the tool.

The researchers recorded verbal responses or ticked responses if matched with provided alternatives or wrote the response under the 'others' option if not matched with the provided options. Responses were coded and knowledge was determined by the percentages of women who answered the questions correctly. The assessment was done by a research scholar based on the responses obtained from the questions. The interpretation of knowledge was done based on the scores obtained, that is, those who answered correctly were interpreted as having adequate knowledge and were graded with a score of 1 for each question which were then converted into percentage. Hence, excellent knowledge was regarded as \geq 75% correct, good knowledge between 51% and 74% correct; average between 26% and 50% as well as poor knowledge \leq 25% (Dhyani *et al.*, 2018).

3.6.7 Development of the risk scores

All women with DIP were excluded from the data to develop a risk score for identification of women with or at risk of GDM. Variables collected as risk factors for GDM were analyzed for descriptive statistics to check for missing data or any abnormal distributions. Cross-tabulation analysis was carried out to identify relationships among variables for categorical data. Variables found to have a relationship with GDM from previous research evidence and confirmed by cross-tabulation were entered into a logistic regression model for analysis.

Univariate analysis of each variable in relation to GDM was done to assess their individual contribution to the development of GDM.

All variables with a p-value of < 0.05 were entered in a model. Multivariable analysis was performed, and the estimated coefficients and p-values were compared with those in the univariate analysis, whereby all non-significant predictors (p value > 0.1) were eliminated at this stage and a new model with significant predictors was set. Backwards elimination as described by Harrell (2015) was used as it starts with a full model (includes all variables) and eliminates non-significant variables one by one.

Performance of the new model was compared with the full model and the process repeated until the model contained significant predictors only. For the model to be applicable, each risk factor was scored based on the estimated coefficients whereby the increase in number of the scores indicated high risk of GDM (Caliskan *et al.*, 2004). The risk scores were calculated, indicating the risk factors and their corresponding scores multiplied by ten (10) to remove decimals to get integers for easier interpretation and application in ANC settings and for individual use. The sum of the score was calculated for each participant by adding the score for each significant variable in the risk model and a total GDM risk score was calculated as the sum of all individual scores.

Performance of the model was assessed using discrimination assessment which looked at whether estimated risks were different for patients with and without GDM. This was done using the c-statistic, known as the area under the receiver–operating characteristics curve (AU-ROC) for binary outcomes. This was done with the probability that, a randomly selected patient experiencing an event (which is GDM in this case) has a higher predicted probability than a randomly selected patient not experiencing the event (Wynants *et al.*, 2017).

The clinical utility of the model was assessed using the Net Benefit (NB) to obtain the threshold for decision making (Wynants *et al.*, 2017). This assessment was conducted based on the net proportion of true and false positive values at a selected threshold whereby the higher the net benefit for the model the higher the utility of the model.

3.7 Statistical analysis

Data collected were entered, cleaned, edited and analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social ScienceTM (SPSSTM) Version 20 and R-TestTM version 3.61.

3.7.1 Demographic data

Demographic attributes were assessed using means, percentages, and frequencies obtained using SPSS. For example, means, frequency and percentages for maternal age, gestational age and income were reported.

3.7.2 Anthropometrics data

Percentages were obtained from SPSS to describe the prevalence of overweight, obesity, hypertension and edema. Means were calculated for weight, height, MUAC and body fat. The comparisons for these continuous variables were done using t-test.

3.7.3 Prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy, insulin resistance and associated risk factors

Descriptive statistics were used to obtain percentages for the prevalence of HIP, GDM, DIP, and IR. The means were calculated for OGTT, fasting blood plasma and insulin concentration values which were compared using the t-test for the women with and without conditions. The associations among variables started with descriptive statistics to detect missing values followed by Chi-square test to compare different categorical variables for women with and without HIP and IR at p < 0.05. Variables assessed included overweight and obesity using MUAC and BMI categories, family history of diabetes, edema, hypertension, gestational age, maternal age, proteinuria, etc. The outcomes, which were IR and HIP, were dichotomized into two categories which were either having the condition or not having the condition. Multiple logistics regression by binary logistic was used to find associations of different factors with HIP and then with IR separately. Univariate analysis was run for each factor association with HIP and IR separately. All factors with P < 0.05 were entered in the multivariate analysis using stepwise backward elimination (Harrell, 2015). Crude and adjusted odd ratios were obtained for each factor associated with HIP and/or IR at p < 0.05 (Wynants *et al.*, 2017).

3.7.4 Knowledge on hyperglycemia in pregnancy

Data about knowledge on HIP were analyzed using SPSS where frequencies and percentages were obtained to classify women as having poor, moderate, or high knowledge on HIP. Factors influencing knowledge were assessed using logistic regression where both univariate and multivariate analyses were run. The confounders of knowledge, such as age, parity and income, were included in the multivariate analysis and significance was set at p < 0.05.

3.7.5 Risk score data

All women with DIP were excluded from the analysis to develop a tool based on GDM cases. Chi-square test was used for comparing the selected categorical variables and student *t-test* for the continuous variables between women with and without GDM. Blood glucose values were dichotomized as having GDM or not having the condition. Binary logistic regression was used and univariate analysis was done for each variables independent association with GDM where crude odd ratios were obtained (Wynants *et al.*, 2017).

All variables with p < 0.05 were entered in the multivariate analysis where adjusted odd ratios and regression of coefficients were obtained (Harrell, 2015). All variables with p < 0.1 remained in the final model to avoid exclusion of important variables which potentially contributes to the development of GDM. The confidence intervals in each analysis were obtained and recorded. The final risk score model was developed based on the regression coefficients of each variable. The performance of the model was analyzed using AUC, specificity and sensitivity at a selected threshold which could give reasonable values. Utility of the model was assessed using the Net Benefit (NB) which was obtained by different combination of true and false positive values. This was analyzed in R-statistic 3.61 by running the decision curve function.

3.8 Ethical consideration

The study was approved by the Tanzania National Institute for Medical Research (NIMR) and given ethical clearance certificate with a reference number was NIMR/HQ/R.8a/Vol.IX/2694 (Appendix 3). Participants signed an informed consent which clearly explained the aim, procedure, benefits and potential negative effects of the study (Appendix 2). Anonymity was ensured using numbers to represent the names of the women during data handling and confidentiality by having a specific room where research activities were carried out. Each woman could enter alone or with a spouse or any person of her choice.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Results

A total of 500 pregnant women were recruited whereby 94% (n = 468) consented to participate in the study. All 76 pregnant women with HIP were referred to the doctor for further actions and followed up by phones to understand their conditions and actions taken for more advices.

4.1.1 Demographic characteristics of participants

A total of 468 pregnant women participated in the study at Ngarenaro and Kaloleni Health Centers. The mean age of pregnant women was 28 years (SD \pm 5.84), of which 65.6% were \geq 25 years old. Majority of the women were married (93.8%, n=459), and over half had attended primary school education (58.8%, n=275). About 56% (n=261) of the pregnant women were self-employed, primarily in small business earning an average income of < 250 000 Tanzanian Shillings (TSH) per month (approximately < 110 United States Dollars) (Table 1).

Respondent Variables	Frequency	Percent
Education levels		
Informal education	8	1.7
Primary level	275	58.8
Secondary level	164	35.0
College/University	21	4.5
Marital status		
Single	16	3.4
Married or Cohabiting	439	93.8
Divorced/Separated	13	2.8
Occupational status		
Formally employed	46	9.8
Self employed	261	55.8
Unemployed	161	34.4
Income per month (TSH)		
<250 000	255	54.5
250 000-450 000	33	7.1
≥500 000	13	2.8
Don't know	167	35.7
Age		
< 25 years	164	35.0
≥ 25 years	304	65.0

 Table 1: Demographic characteristics of participants (N=468)

The mean gestational age during the first ANC visit was 18 weeks (SD \pm 5.62) and 28.5 weeks (SD \pm 3.82) at the commencement of this study. Nearly, 38% (n=177) of the pregnant women were ≥ 28 weeks of gestation at the time of entry to the study with 50.4% (n=236) reported as second or third gravidity (Table 2).

Table 2: Demographic and selected maternal characteristics of the women (N=468)						
Respondent Variables	Frequency	Percent	Mean (±SD)			
Gestational age at first visit						
<12 weeks	57	12.2				
12-24 weeks	363	77.6	$18 (SD \pm 5.62)$			
25-36 weeks	48	10.2				
Gestational age at study commencement						
24-28 weeks	291	62.2	$28 (SD \pm 3.82)$			
>28 weeks	177	37.8				
Gravidity						
Prime	142	30.3				
Second and third	236	50.4	3 (SD ± 1.20)			
Fourth and above	90	19.2				

• . •

4.1.2 Anthropometric measurements of pregnant women

About half of the pregnant women were able to recall their pre-pregnancy weight. The mean of the self-reported pre-pregnancy weight was 67 kg (SD \pm 12.5). This weight was used to determine pre-pregnancy BMI of the pregnant women. The measured mean height was 159 cm (SD \pm 6.3), body fat 33.7% (SD \pm 7.2), and MUAC 27 cm (SD \pm 3.8). About 10.3% (n=48) of the women were hypertensive and 20.3% (n=95) had edema (Table 3).

Table 3: Anthropometry of the pregnant women (N=468 and N=238 for pre-pregnancy weight)

Variables tested	Frequency	Percent	Mean (SD)
Body fat percentage			$33.4 (SD \pm 7.8)$
Self-reported pre-pregnancy			$67 (SD \pm 12.5)$
weight (kg) (n=238)			
Height (cm)			$159 (SD \pm 6.3)$
Hypertension			
Yes	48	10.3	
No	420	89.7	
Edema			
Yes	95	20.3	
No	373	79.7	

Pre-pregnancy BMI of the pregnant women was determined in which, 25.2% (n=60) were classified as overweight and 22.7% (n=54) obese. About 36% (n=164) of the women had $MUAC \ge 28$ cm which is also an indicative of overweight or obesity (Fig. 11).



Figure 11: Nutrition status classified by body mass index (BMI) and mid upper arm circumference (MUAC) measurements

4.1.3 Prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women

(i) Laboratory glucose tests

All pregnant women who participated in the study (100%, n=468) completed fasting blood glucose tests and 97.8% (n=446) underwent the OGTT procedure. Among the assessed pregnant women, 10.9% (n=51) reported to have one or more symptoms of diabetes such as extreme tiredness, diaphoresis (excessive sweating), and polydipsia (excessive thirst). Urine glucose test revealed that 0.9% (n=4) of the pregnant women had diabetes while 8.5% (n=40) had trace amount of glucose in the urine. Generally, HIP was prevalent in 16.2% (95% CI: 13-19.9) of the participated pregnant women of which GDM was 13% (n=61) and DIP was 3.2% (n=15) using the WHO (2013) criteria (Table 4).

(11-400)		
Variables Tested	Frequency	Percent
Glucose testing		
Completed fasting glucose tests	468	100.0
Completed OGTT	446	97.8
Glucose status		
Normal	392	83.8
HIP	76	16.2
DIP	15	3.2
GDM	61	13.0
Having any symptoms of diabetes		
Yes	51	10.9
No	417	89.1
Glucose test in urine		
Positive	4	0.9
Negative	424	90.6
Trace	40	8.5

Table 4: Laboratory tests for glucose and urine protein among pregnant women (N=468)

(ii) Mean glucose comparisons during pregnancy

The overall mean for fasting blood glucose was 4.5 mmol/L (SD \pm 1.3), with the HIP subgroup having a mean of 6.4 mmol/L (SD \pm 1.5), yielding a significantly higher (p<0.001) mean compared to the non-HIP group (4.2 mmol/L, SD \pm 0.9). The overall mean for OGTT was 5.5 mmol/L (SD \pm 1.06) and significantly higher (p<0.001) among the HIP (8.3 mmol/L, SD \pm 1.3) compared to the non-HIP group (5.5 mmol/L, SD \pm 0.1) (Table 5).

Table 5: Mean blood glucose comparisons between women with and without
hyperglycemia in pregnancy (N=468)

Variables Tested	Frequency	Mean	SD	P-value
Fasting blood glucose				
General fasting blood glucose	468	4.5	±1.3	
Normal (< 5.1 mmol/L)	397	4.2	±0.9	< 0.001*
HIP ($\geq 5.1 \text{ mmol/L}$)	71	6.4	±1.5	
OGTT				
General OGTT values	446	5.6	±1.06	
Normal (< 8.5 mmol/L)	436	5.5	±0.1	< 0.001*
Glucose intolerance ($\geq 8.5 \text{ mmol/L}$)	10	8.3	±1.3	
*significant at p<0.05				

(iii) Comparisons of the selected characteristics between women with and without hyperglycemia in pregnancy

Chi-square analysis was run to identify categorical variables which are associated with HIP (Table 6).

nypergiveenna in pregnancy			
Variable	With HIP	Without HIP	P-value
MUAC			
< 28cm (Normal)	37(12.4%)	262(87.7%)	0.003*
\geq 28cm (overweight/obese	39(23.1%)	130(76.9%)	
BMI pre-pregnancy			
Underweight or Normal	19 (15.3%)	105(84.7%)	0.251
Overweight or Obese	24 (21.1%)	90(78.9%)	
Family history of diabetes			
Yes	35(44.9%)	43(55.1%)	< 0.001*
No	41(10.5%)	349(89.5%)	
Previous delivery to ≥ 4 kg baby			
Yes	48(47.1%)	54(52.9%)	< 0.001*
No	10(4.4%)	219(95.6%)	
Maternal age	× ,	× ,	
<25 years	24(14.4%)	143(85.6%)	0.414
≥ 25 years	52(17.3%)	249(82.7%)	
Symptoms of T2DM			
Yes	25 (49.0%)	26 (51.0%)	
No	51(12.2%)	366(87.8%)	< 0.001*
Previous stillbirth (>20weeks of gestation)	· · · · ·	· · · · ·	
Yes	10 (15.9%)	53(784.1%)	0.467
No	48(17.9%)	220(82.1%)	
Previous neonatal death(within 28 days of life)			
Yes	1 (10.0%)	9 (90.0%)	0.538
No	29(20.1%)	115(79.9%)	
Hypertension		· · · ·	
Yes	14(29.2%)	34(70.8%)	0.550
No	62(14.8%)	358(85.2%)	
Insulin resistance			
Yes	19(38.8%)	30(61.2%)	< 0.001*
No	25(13.7%)	158(86.3%)	
Protein in urine			
Yes	1(25.0%)	3(75.0%)	0.254
No	65(15.3%)	359 (84.7%)	
Trace	10(25.0%)	392(75.0%)	
Gestational age		. ,	
24-28 weeks	49(16.8%)	242(83.2%)	0.554
>28 weeks	27(15.3%)	150(84.7%)	

Table 6: Comparison of sel	ected characteristics between	n women	with	and	without
hyperglycemia in	pregnancy				

*Significant at p < 0.05

The results shown that, HIP was significantly higher (p < 0.000) among women with family history of T2DM (44.9% vs 10.5%, p < 0.001); MUAC \geq 28 cm (23.1% vs 12.4%, p = 0.003); history of previous macrosomic delivery (47.1% vs 4.4%, p < 0.001); symptoms of T2DM (49.1% vs 12.2%, p < 0.001), and IR (38.8% vs 13.7%, P < 0.001) (Table 6).

The observed prevalence of HIP did not differ significantly among pregnant women with, history of previous stillbirth, high gestational age (> 28 weeks), neonatal death and delivery through caesarean section, hypertension, advanced maternal age, protein in urine (proteinuria), smoking and alcohol intake habits (p > 0.05) (Table 6).

(iii) Factors associated with hyperglycemia in pregnancy

Selected risk factors were analyzed using multiple logistic regression analysis to determine their association with HIP. A significant association was observed in women with high body fat percentage (AOR 1.3, 95% CI: 1.3-1.4), family history of T2DM with (AOR 7.0, 95% CI: 3.1-15.6) and history of delivery macrosomic babies \geq 4 kg at birth (AOR 2.0, 95% CI: 1.4-5.3) in the first model (Table 7).

The second model replaced body fat percentage with MUAC and the association remained consistently significant in all factors of the first model with the addition of MUAC (AOR 1.2, 95% CI: 1.1-1.3) (Table 7).

The width of interval gives an indication for precision of the point estimate. Hence, the wide ranges in CIs observed for family history of T2DM and fetal macrosomia may be due to the random distribution effects, meaning that the sample population was not sufficient to give inferences. However, the information is useful and can act as a starting point for additional research with a large sample size.

		<u>p8-</u> ,		
Risk factors	Crude OR(95%)	CI)	P-value	
Body fat percentage	1.3(1.2-1.4)		< 0.001*	
MUAC	1.2(1.2-1.3)		< 0.001*	
BMI	1.0(1.0-1.1)		0.294	
Family history of				
T2DM				
No	1			
Yes	6.9(4.0-12.0)		< 0.001*	
Previous delivery ≥ 4				
kg baby				
No	1			
Yes	5.9(3.1-11.0)		< 0.001*	
Delivery(< 37 weeks				
of gestation)				
No	1			
Yes	1.2(0.4-3.8)		0.779	
Birth modality				
Normal delivery	1			
Caesarian section	1.1(0.6-1.7)		0.858	
	Model 1		Model 2	
Risk factors	Adjusted	P-	Adjusted	р
			nujusicu	r-
	OR(95%CI)	value	OR(95%CI)	P- value
Body fat percentage	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4)	value <0.001	OR(95%CI) NA	P- value
Body fat percentage MUAC	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA	value <0.001	NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3)	value <0.001*
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA	value <0.001	NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3)	value <0.001*
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA	value <0.001	OR(95%CI) NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3)	value
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM No	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA 1	value <0.001	NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3)	value <0.001*
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM No Yes	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA 1 6.9(CI: 3.1-15.6)	value <0.001 <0.001	Indjusted OR(95%CI) NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3) 1 6.0(CI: 3.0-12.0)	<pre></pre>
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM No Yes Previous delivery to	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA 1 6.9(CI: 3.1-15.6)	value <0.001 <0.001	Indjusted OR(95%CI) NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3) 1 6.0(CI: 3.0-12.0)	<pre></pre>
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM No Yes Previous delivery to ≥ 4kg babies	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA 1 6.9(CI: 3.1-15.6)	value <0.001 <0.001	Indjusted OR(95%CI) NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3) 1 6.0(CI: 3.0-12.0)	<pre></pre>
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM No Yes Previous delivery to ≥ 4kg babies No	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA 1 6.9(CI: 3.1-15.6) 1	value <0.001 <0.001	Indjusted OR(95%CI) NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3) 1 6.0(CI: 3.0-12.0) 1	<pre></pre>
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM No Yes Previous delivery to ≥ 4kg babies No Yes	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA 1 6.9(CI: 3.1-15.6) 1 2.3(CI: 1.0-5.3)	value <0.001 <0.001 0.049	Indjusted OR(95%CI) NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3) 1 6.0(CI: 3.0-12.0) 1 3.5(CI: 1.7-7.4)	P- value <0.001* <0.001*
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM No Yes Previous delivery to ≥ 4kg babies No Yes Association of HIP and	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA 1 6.9(CI: 3.1-15.6) 1 2.3(CI: 1.0-5.3) the presence of one or 1	value <0.001 <0.001 0.049 nore sym	Image: constraint of the second system OR(95%CI) NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3) 1 6.0(CI: 3.0-12.0) 1 3.5(CI: 1.7-7.4) ptoms for T2DM	P- value <0.001* <0.001* 0.001*
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM No Yes Previous delivery to ≥ 4kg babies No Yes Association of HIP and Symptoms of T2DM	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA 1 6.9(CI: 3.1-15.6) 1 2.3(CI: 1.0-5.3) the presence of one or 1	value <0.001 <0.001 0.049 nore sym	Indjusted OR(95%CI) NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3) 1 6.0(CI: 3.0-12.0) 1 3.5(CI: 1.7-7.4) ptoms for T2DM	<pre></pre>
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM No Yes Previous delivery to ≥ 4kg babies No Yes Association of HIP and Symptoms of T2DM No	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA 1 6.9(CI: 3.1-15.6) 1 2.3(CI: 1.0-5.3) the presence of one or 1 1	value <0.001 <0.001 0.049 nore sym	Indjusted OR(95%CI) NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3) 1 6.0(CI: 3.0-12.0) 1 3.5(CI: 1.7-7.4) ptoms for T2DM 1	P- value <0.001* <0.001*
Body fat percentage MUAC Family history of T2DM No Yes Previous delivery to ≥ 4kg babies No Yes Association of HIP and Symptoms of T2DM No Yes	OR(95%CI) 1.3(CI:1.2-1.4) NA 1 6.9(CI: 3.1-15.6) 1 2.3(CI: 1.0-5.3) the presence of one or 1 1 2.8(CI: 1.5-6.9)	value <0.001 <0.001 0.049 nore sym	Indjusted OR(95%CI) NA 1.2 (CI: 1.2-1.3) 1 6.0(CI: 3.0-12.0) 1 3.5(CI: 1.7-7.4) ptoms for T2DM 1 3.7(CI: 2.6-4.2)	<pre></pre>

Table	7: (DhO	ratios	of s	elect	risk	factors	for	hyperg	lvcemia	in	nregnancy	,
I abic		Juu	1 atros	OI D	cicci	1 1918	lacions	101	nypers	i y cenna		pregnancy	

habit, gravidity /parity and alcohol intake, maternal and gestational age, with no significant association with HIP. In multivariate analysis, body fat was replaced by MUAC in model 2. The abbreviation NA means not applicable in the particular model. *Significant at p<0.05

4.1.4 Insulin resistance among pregnant women

The prevalence of IR was observed to be 21.3% (n=49) and 9.6% had high levels ($\geq + 2$) of protein in the urine (proteinuria) among 230 pregnant women who were assessed. The overall mean of IR level was 2.2 ± 1.74 of which IR cases had a significantly (p < 0.001) high mean of 4.4 (± 2.15) compared to the normal women with a mean of 1.4(± 1.15) (Table 8).

(11-230)				
Variables Tested	Frequency	Percent	Mean (SD)	
Insulin resistance status				
Insulin level	230	100.0	2.2 (± 1.74)	
Normal	181	78.7	$1.4(\pm 1.15)$	
IR cases	49	21.2	4.4(±2.15)	
Protein in urine				
Positive	22	9.6		
Negative	145	63.0		
Trace	63	27.4		

Table 8: Laboratory tests for proteinuria and insulin resistance among pregnant women (N=230)

(i) Factors associated with insulin resistance in pregnancy

Multiple logistic regression analysis was performed to determine the associations among selected risk factors with IR. Insulin resistance was significantly associated with high body fat percentage (AOR 1.7, 95% CI: 1.5-2.0), family history of T2DM with (AOR 2.8, 95% CI: 1.2-6.3), protein in urine (proteinuria) (AOR 3.4, 95% CI: 1.1-10.7), presence of edema (AOR 3.0, 95% CI: 1.3-6.7), and hypertension (AOR 2.5, 95% CI: 1.1-5.6) (Table 9).

Maternal age, MUAC, pre-gestational BMI, previous delivery of baby ≥ 4 kg were not associated with IR after adjusting for other risk factors (p > 0.05). Moreover, IR was significantly associated with HIP (p < 0.001) (Table 9).

The wide CI indicates that a large range of possible values must be included in order to be 95% confident that the parameter lies within the CI. Hence, CIs for family history of T2DM and the presence of protein in urine suggests that the sample population is not large enough to make inferences, but recognizes that this insight is practically useful and indicates the need for additional research (Table 9).

	cicci factors with mou	III I CSIStai		
Risk factors	Crude OR (95%CI)	P-value	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	P-value
Body fat percentage	1.8(1.4-2.1)	0.001*	1.7(1.5-2.0)	0.023*
Age of woman	1.1(1.0-1.1)	0.079	NA	
MUAC	1.1(1.0-1.2)	0.362	NA	
Hypertension				
No	1		1	
Yes	2.9(1.6-4.9)	0.001*	2.5(1.9-4.6)	0.025*
Family history of T2DM				
No	1			
Yes	2.2(1.1-4.6)	0.031*	2.8(1.2-6.3)	0.016*
Previous \geq 4 kg babies				
No	1		1	
Yes	2.4(1.0-5.6)	0.049*	1.2(1-1.2)	0.045*
BMI				
$< 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$	1			
$\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$	0.5(0.2-1.5)	0.100	NA	0.100
Protein in urine				
Negative	1		1	
Positive	3.5(1.3-9.8)	0.017*	3.4(1.1-10.7)	0.033*
Edema				
No	1			
Yes	3.5(1.7-7.4)	0.001*	3.0(1.3-6.7)	0.010*
Relationship between IR a	and HIP			
IR as risk factor for HIP	3.8(1.9-7.7)	0.001*	NA	

Table 9: Association of select factors with insulin resistance

Note: The univariate analysis also included gestational age, preterm delivery (<37 weeks of gestation) as well as stillbirth and neonatal death with no significant association with IR. The abbreviation AOR means Adjusted Odd Ratio, CI - Confidence Interval, NA means Not Applicable for multivariate analysis and IR –Insulin Resistance. *Significance at p < 0.05

4.1.5 Knowledge on hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women

(i) Knowledge about hyperglycemia in pregnancy

Among the interviewed women, very few knew about the existence of HIP (10.7%, n=50) and 36% (n=18) correctly defined HIP as diabetes with first recognition during pregnancy. Few participants were able to mention the effects of HIP (23%, n=14), such as stillbirth, neonatal death, delivery of a microsomal infant (≥ 4 kg) at birth, and development of diabetes mellitus later in life for the mother and the newborn. Moreover, few women (26%, n=13) knew some symptoms for HIP, such as extreme tiredness, diaphoresis (excessive sweating), and polydipsia (excessive thirst). In addition, 30% (n=15) of the women knew the causes/risk factors for HIP, and mentioned family history of T2DM and history of delivery big babies to be predictors for HIP (Table 10).

Variables tested	Frequency	Percent
Knowledge on the existence of HIP		
Yes	50	10.7
No	418	89.3
Know the meaning of HIP		
Yes	18	36.0
No	32	64.0
If yes what is HIP		
Diabetes first occurring in pregnancy	18	36.0
Do not know the meaning	32	96.2
Know the symptoms of HIP		
Yes	13	26.0
No	37	74.0
If yes what are the symptoms of HIP		
Frequent urination	6	46.0
Tiredness	3	23.0
Frequent thirsty	4	31.0
Know the effects of HIP		
Yes	14	23.0
No	36	77.0
If yes what are the effects of HIP		
Overweight baby	2	14.2
Diabetes later in life to mother and child	6	42.9
Prenatal death	6	42.9
Understand the risk (causes) of HIP		
Yes	15	30.0
No	35	70.0
If yes what are the causes of HIP		
Family history of T2DM	12	80.0
Previous delivery to > 4 kg babies	3	20.0
Reported sources of information about HIP		
During ANC	12	24.0
Different media (Internet, TV, what-sap etc.)	38	76.0

Table 10: Participants' knowledge about hyperglycemia in pregnancy (N=468)

(ii) Factors influencing awareness about hyperglycemia in pregnancy among women

Knowledge about HIP was significantly associated with education level (AOR 13.7, 95% CI: 4.07-46.15) for secondary and (AOR 5.5, 95% CI: 1.78-16.76) for college/university levels. After adjusting for income, occupation, age and gravidity, knowledge remained significantly associated with education levels. The wide CI in the level of education means that the factor occurs in a small proportion of women who may not be the representative, thereby creating uncertainties as to whether the estimate of the parameter is precise (Table 11). However, it important to note that the obtained information is still valuable and calls for additional studies such as longitudinal or population-based approaches.

pregnancy					
Risk factors	n	Crude OR(95%CI)	P-value	Adjusted OR(95%CI)	P-value
Education levels					
Primary /informal	283	1		1	
Secondary	164	25.5(10.4-62.5)	< 0.001*	13.7(4.1-46.2)	< 0.001*
College/university	21	12.6(5.2-30.6)	< 0.001*	5.5(1.8-16.8)	0.003*
Gravidity					
Prime	142	1		1	
Second and third	236	1.46(0.67-3.21)	0.341	1.2(0.2-2.5)	0.567
Fourth and above	90	2.37(0.92-6.16)	0.050	2.1(0.5-4.7)	0.076
Maternal age					
< 25 years	164	1		1	
\geq 25 years	304	1.3(04-2.4)	0.088	1.1(0.6-1.8)	0.956
Employment status					
Unemployed	161	1		1	
Non-formal	261	0.1(0.1-0.3)	0.824	0.14(0.1-0.4)	0.638
employed					
Formally employed	46	1.1(0.5-2.3)	< 0.001*	1.0 (0.3-2.5)	0.631
Income level (Tshs)					
<250 000	255	1		1	
250 000-450 000	33	7.1(1.6-31.7)	0.011^{*}	2.1(1-47.0)	0.638
>450,000	13	4.7(1.4-21.3)	0.045^{*}	0.6(0.1-12.0)	0.680
Not sure	167	0.1(0.1-0.3)	0.905	0.1(0.0-0.5)	

Table 11: Participants'	attributes associated v	with awareness	of hyperglycemia in
nregnancy			

Note: Large Confidence Intervals (CI) may be due to a small number of women falling in the category. Abbreviation: OR–Odd ratio. *Significant at p < 0.05

(iii) Practices reported by women on hyperglycemia in pregnancy screening and management

During the assessments for practices in screening, and managements of HIP, about 8.1% (n= 38) of the pregnant women reported to have been screened for diabetes in their previous pregnancies using urine samples with five (13.2%, n=5) reporting positive results in their previous pregnancy. The few women who were diagnosed with diabetes were provided with counseling and referred to the doctor/regional hospital for further actions but no follow-up from the ANC (Table 12).

Variables Tested	Frequency	Percent	
Tested glucose in previous pregnancies			
Yes	38	8.1	
No	266	56.8	
Not sure	164	35.1	
Testing method used			
Urine	38	100.0	
Blood	0	0.0	
If tested what was the status			
Normal	33	86.8	
High/detected	5	13.2	
If high were you treated			
Yes	3	60.0	
No	2	40.0	
If yes, how were you treated			
Counseled and refereed to hospital	3	100.0	
Medication	0	0.0	
Followed up after diagnosis			
Yes	0	0.0	
No	5	100.0	

Table 12: Women's reported practices on hyperglycemia in pregnancy screening and management (N=468)

4.1.6 Development of the risk scores

The risk score for identification of women with or at risk of GDM was developed using logistic regression analysis (binary logistic) with stepwise backward selection procedure. Before analysis was done, all women with DIP were excluded from the analysis as the aim was to develop a tool for identification of women at risk of GDM which is the highly increasing type of HIP.

(i) Odd ratios and regression coefficients from univariate analysis

From the univariate logistic regression model, potential predictors for the development of GDM among pregnant women included; increased MUAC, body fat percentage, history of stillbirth in previous pregnancy, family history of T2DM and delivery model (Caesarean section) which may indicates a history of big babies in previous pregnancies. In addition to history of delivery macrosomic babies which may indicate that women had high level of glucose in her previous pregnancy which was transferred to the fetus, and IR at P < 0.05. On the other hand, hypertension during pregnancy and before pregnancy and after delivery, edema, smoking habits, alcohol intake, preterm delivery, gravidity, maternal age ≥ 25 years and proteinuria were not significantly associated with HIP at p > 0.05 (Table13). Insulin

resistance was not included in the final model due to costs associated with laboratory analysis.

memus				
Variables	В	Crude	CI	P-value
		OR		
Mothers age ≥ 25 yrs	0.10	1.01	0.96-1.05	0.846
Macrosomic (\geq 4kg)	1.09	2.99	1.63-5.48	< 0.001*
T2DM history	1.66	5.27	2.88-9.63	< 0.001*
MUAC	0.47	1.60	1.44-1.77	< 0.001*
Body fat	0.49	1.65	1.46-1.86	< 0.001*
Parity	0.09	1.10	0.46-2.64	0.835
Preterm delivery(< 37weeks)	0.13	1.14	0.32-4.02	0.837
Stillbirth	1.33	3.78	1.34-10.63	0.012*
Neonatal death	-19.44	0.00	0.00-0.01	0.999
Blood pressure in pregnancy	0.32	1.38	0.73-2.60	0.327
Blood pressure before pregnancy	-19.36	0.00	0.00-0.01	0.999
Alcohol intake	0.09	1.10	0.18-6.57	0.917
Smoking habits	-19.35	0.00	0.00-0.08	0.999
Presence of edema	-0.01	0.99	0.50-1.96	0.967
Proteinuria	0.25	1.28	0.34-4.84	0.715
Presence of glucose in urine	1.03	1.11	0.10-12.04	0.931
IR	1.77	6.76	5.67-8.22	< 0.001*

Table 13: Univariate analysis of risk factors associated with gestational diabetes mellitus

Note: The word "No" was used as reference in categorical variables. Univariate also included stillbirth and neonatal death in the current pregnancy which had no significant association withn GDM *Significant at p < 0.05

(ii) Adjusted odd ratios, regression coefficients and scores from multivariate analysis

From multivariate model, factors found to be predictors of GDM were MUAC \geq 28 cm (AOR 1.28 95% CI 1.08-1.56), body fat percentage (AOR 1.77, 95% CI 1.37-2.294), family history of type 2 diabetes (AOR 8.34, 95% CI 1.91-36.43), and previous history of delivery macrosomic babies (AOR 7.99, 95% CI 1.95-32.79) (Table 14).

Then a cut off point for body fat percentage was developed using the ROC and found that the risk for GDM is increasing with the body fat of $\geq 38\%$. Backward elimination method removed hypertension, preterm delivery, stillbirth and maternal age which were not significantly associated with GDM (p > 0.1). The significant variables were used to develop a risk score model to identify women with and /or at risk of GDM (Table 14). The risk for GDM increased among woman with 2 to 49 scores (Table 14).

Variables	B	OR	CI	P-value	B x 10
Macrosomic	2.00	7.99	1.95-32.79	0.004*	20
T2DM history	2.12	8.34	1.91-36.43	0.005*	21
MUAC	0.24	1.28	1.080-1.58	0.019*	2
Body fat	0.57	1.77	1.37-2.29	< 0.001*	6
Total points					49
R^2 of 0.80 and ROC	NA	NA	0.95-0.99	< 0.001*	NA
0.97					
Different threshold value	ies for the risk	of HIP			
Threshold value	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	
0.2	0.98	0.46	0.68	0.97	
4	0.96	0.23	0.57	0.89	
7	0.93	0.13	0.54	0.75	
10	0.91	0.11	0.53	0.65	

Table 14: Multivariate analysis and risk scores

Note: Significant p≤ 0.1. The abbreviation OR means odd ratio, CI confidence interval, NAnot applicable , PPV-Positive predictive value, NPV- Negative predictive value

Among the risk factors involved in the model, family history of T2DM contributes much on the development of GDM followed by tendency of delivery macrosomic babies, high body fat percentage and lastly increased MUAC (Fig. 12).



Figure 12: Contributions of each risk factor in the model

(iii) Performance of the developed model

The threshold of 0.2 was selected as cut off for the performance of the model to reduce the number of false negatives and identify most of the women at risk of the condition. The model was found to perform well in the studied ANC setting with an AUC of 0.97 (95% CI 0.96-0.99, p < 0.001) (Fig. 13), sensitivity of 0.98, specificity of 0.46 as well as PPV of 0.68 and NPV of 0.97 at a selected cut off of 0.2. Moreover, the regression has the pseudo-R squared = 80.03% which implies that the model is a good predictor of GDM (Table 14).



Figure 13: Receiver–operating characteristics curve (ROC) for performance of the risk score model

(iv) Comparison of performance of the risk score and other models

The performance of the risk score model was significantly higher with AUC of 0.97 (95%CI 0.95-0.99, p < 0.001) compared to that of fasting glucose test with AUC of 0.96 (95%CI 0.92-0.99, p < 0.001), and OGTT with AUC of 0.64 (95% CI 0.56-0.72, p = 0.002). Urine glucose test model performed poorly with an AUC of 0.54 (95% CI 0.45-0.63, p = 0.38 as it could not discriminate women with GDM and those without the condition (Fig. 14).



Figure 14: Receiver–operating characteristics curve for performance of the risk score, urine glucose and fasting and oral glucose tolerance test models

(v) Clinical utility of the model

Clinical utility of the model was assessed using the Net benefit (NB) curve which shows that, in different combinations of true and false positive values, there is high benefit of screening for GDM using the risk score model at any chosen threshold. For-example the NB of using risk scores is 83%, while universal screening for all women is 80% at the threshold of 0.2. When the threshold was chosen at 0.6, the NB of GDM screening using the risk score model was still high (80%) compared to universal screening for all women which was 62% (Fig. 15). This implies that, when risk score is used more pregnant women with high risk of GDM benefit from the screening program.



Figure 15: Net benefit curve for the clinical utility of the model (threshold probability)

(vi) The risk factors checklist

The predictors used to develop risk score in addition to the risk factors for IR were simplified into a simple checklist which involved macrosomic babies as a result of high maternal glucose levels during pregnancy, high MUAC ≥ 28 cm and body fat $\geq 38\%$, family history of T2DM as well as edema, and hypertension which are risk factors for IR (Table 15). In this case, having one or more of the risk factors indicated in the checklist, exposes a woman to the risk of developing GDM which indicates the need for further testing to confirm.

	Risk factors for GDM
1	Tendency of delivery macrosomic babies ($\geq 4 \text{ kg}$)
2	Family history of T2DM
3	High MUAC ≥ 28 cm
4	High body fat \geq 38%
5	Edema and/or hypertension

 Table 15: The risk factors checklist

Note: The occurrence of preeclampsia manifested by edema and hypertension is a risk factor for IR which is associated with early GDM

4.2 Discussion

4.2.1 Overview

The current study was conducted among pregnant women in Arusha District to establish the prevalence of HIP and develop a simplified method for identification of women with /or at risk of GDM in Tanzania's ANC settings with limited recourses. This will enhance self-care and evidence-based treatment for appropriate and efficient use of the limited resources. The study also established the prevalence of IR, and knowledge about HIP among pregnant women in the selected ANC centers.

4.2.2 Prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy and associated risk factors among pregnant women

The overall prevalence of HIP was 16.2%, of which 3.2% had DIP and 13% GDM according to WHO (2013) criteria. The observed prevalence of HIP may increase burden to the health system if no immediate actions are taken. The need exists to explore the associated modifiable risk factors including body fat percentage to enhance self-care practices and prevent poor pregnancy outcomes as well as T2DM later in life. A similar study conducted in Kilimanjaro Region, Tanzania using the same WHO (2013) criteria reported that the

prevalence of DIP was 3% and 19.5% had GDM (Njete *et al.*, 2018) which is higher than the current study. The differences observed may be due to nature of the diets, cultural differences in food preparation, and care during pregnancy, as well as after delivery which need further explorations. A similar study in Nigeria reported that the prevalence of GDM was 15.7% and DIP was 4.8% according to WHO (2013) criteria (Imoh *et al.*, 2017). In India likewise, HIP was prevalent in 18.9% of the studied population where by 16.3% had GDM and 2.6% had DIP (Nielsen *et al.*, 2016) using the same WHO (2013) criteria. In these studies, the prevalence of GDM is higher than DIP. As long as GDM disappears after delivery if managed, early interventions could help to prevent poor pregnancy outcomes and its progression to T2DM later in life.

The prevalence of HIP in the present study was significantly associated with high body fat percentage, family history of T2DM, MUAC ≥ 28 cm and previous delivery of ≥ 4 kg babies at birth. Increased body fat percentage and MUAC are indicatives of overweight and obesity which are positively associated with development of HIP. Excess body fat and a high proportion of large adipocytes may significantly contribute to IR later in pregnancy. Adipose tissue produces numerous factors (adipocytokines), most of which act as hormones. For example adiponectin is the main adipose-specific protein which may have a role in the pathogenesis of obesity. As obesity is a predisposing factor for development of diabetes mellitus in general and GDM in specific, this might explain the indirect involvement of a decreased adiponectin in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus. Moreover, obesity is linked to increased circulating levels of leptin and the inflammatory markers of TNF- α and C-reactive protein as well as decreased levels of adiponectin, which are associated with IR and risk of GDM (Kautzky-Willer *et al.*, 2001; Retnakaran *et al.*, 2003; Retnakaran *et al.*, 2004; Williams *et al.*, 2004).

On the other hand, BMI obtained from the recalled pre-pregnancy weight was not significantly associated with HIP even after been replaced for MUAC and/or body fat percentage in the models, making it a weak determinant of HIP. A major limitation with recalled weight before pregnancy is that, women may over or under-estimated their prepregnancy weight which may cause bias. In this case, body fat percentage together with MUAC can be used instead of BMI as determinants of HIP due to their independent association with HIP which helped to reduces biases of recalled weight.
In the current study, almost half of the pregnant women could not recall their pre-pregnancy body weight making it difficult to estimate pre-pregnancy BMI and pregnancy weight gain. This may be due to fact that majority of Tanzanians, including women, do not have tendency of assessing their nutritional status regularly unless in the case of the diseases and/or advised by the doctor. This finding is supported by Mwanri *et al.* (2014) who reported that BMI could not be estimated for most of the women, due to failure to recall their pre-pregnancy weight. Another similar study reported that, less than half of the pregnant mothers had an ability to recall their pre-gestational weight (Saldana *et al.*, 2004).

Although weight during pregnancy can be estimated with a recorded weight within fifteen weeks of pregnancy (Saldana *et al.*, 2004), women in the current study started first ANC visit at a mean gestational age of 18 weeks making their pregnancy weights to be indeterminate. A similar study reported that, since most of the women appeared late to the ANC with a mean gestational age of 20 weeks, it was difficult to obtain their pre-gestational weight (Gale *et al.*, 2007). Hence, information on changes in body fat content is required due to its independent association with HIP and easy of estimations during pregnancy. This is further supported in a previous study which report that the risk of GDM was independently associated with high body fat percentage, similar to the findings in people with T2DM (Iqbal *et al.*, 2007). Similarly, a study conducted in China reported that the percentage body fat was the strongest risk factor for GDM after adjusting pre-pregnancy BMI (Wang & Luo, 2019). With these associations, it is important to utilize these simple factors to identify pregnant women at risk for HIP so that prevention measures, such as lifestyle modifications, can be implemented to prevent poor pregnancy outcomes (Forsbach-Sanchez *et al.*, 2005).

Women with a history of delivery macrosomic babies (≥ 4 kg) at birth were at twice the risk of HIP compared to their counterparts even after adjusting for body fat percentage, prepregnancy BMI, gestational age and MUAC. This may be attributed by a high maternal glucose level which was transferred to the fetus. This finding reveals how maternal health status is the determinant of health of the newborn. This occurs due to fetal hyperinsulinemia, which results from maternal fetal transfer of glucose (Xiong *et al.*, 2001). It can also be due to elevation in plasma concentrations of placental hormones like progesterone, human chorionic somatomamotrophin and cortisol, which are designed to provide energy and nutrients for the developing fetus by providing more glucose, resulting in dysregulation of glucose metabolism (Asare-Anane *et al.*, 2013; Fetita *et al.*, 2006). Another study in South Africa found that a previous history of delivery a baby weighing ≥ 4 kg at birth was an independent predictor of developing GDM (Adam & Rheeder, 2017). This finding means that a woman whose pregnancy resulted to a child with high birth weight, is at an increased risk of GDM in progressive pregnancies (Ross, 2006).

In this study, women with family history of diabetes were almost seven times at greater risk of HIP compared to their non-affected counterparts meaning that HIP can be influenced by genetic predisposition and/or lifestyle practices, such as dietary intake and low physical activities. Another study showed that, GDM is considered to result from interaction between genetic and environmental risk factors (Shaat & Groop, 2007). Pregnancy triggers a series of metabolic imbalances that lead to a diabetic state in women who are already genetically predisposed to develop diabetes (Reece *et al.*, 2009). Of note, GDM and T2DM share a similar genetic background (Kwak *et al.*, 2012), which might be a reason to why women with strong first-degree family history of T2DM are at high risk of GDM. Hence, genetic predispositions to T2DM or GDM should not be ignored. Other studies concur with the current finding that family history of diabetes remained significantly associated with GDM even after adjustment for other co-variates (Whelton *et al.*, 2017; Leng *et al.*, 2015).

Some women with HIP reported having one or more symptoms of T2DM, such as extreme tiredness, diaphoresis, polydipsia and increased frequent urination. These symptoms were found to have a strong independent association with HIP even after adjusted for MUAC, BMI, gestational age and family history of T2DM. Considering the asymptomatic nature of GDM (ADA, 2010), these women may have pre-existing T2DM which was not diagnosed before pregnancy because, 3.2% (n=15) of the women had high glucose cut off points which indicated the presence of DIP. This may be attributed by a high prevalence of T2DM without access to screening services before pregnancy.

Therefore, there is a need to promote pre-pregnancy preparations that include regular screening for diabetes for earlier efforts to be taken to prevent the development of HIP. Hyperglycemia in pregnancy has few or no symptoms and should be diagnosed by screening during pregnancy (Al-Noaemi & Shalaye, 2011). Another study reported that overt symptoms of GDM/HIP are rare and may be difficult to distinguish from normal pregnancy symptoms creating a need for confirmatory OGTT (ADA, 2010). Hyperglycemia in pregnancy can be influenced by first generation family history of T2DM and, when undiagnosed and

unmanaged, can lead into recurrent GDM in subsequent pregnancies and/or T2DM later in life (IDF, 2013; Leng *et al.*, 2015). Hence, symptom clusters with risk factors can be used for identification of women who need screening for HIP especially in low income countries where universal screening is not possible due to resource constraints.

4.2.3 Prevalence of insulin resistance and its determinants among pregnant women

The prevalence of IR was present in 21.3% (n = 49) of the 230 studied women with significantly higher incidence among women with HIP compared to non-HIP. This finding may reflect that IR is a normal condition in pregnancy but may become dominant leading to HIP, especially among women with increased risk for diabetes. Another similar study reported that women with GDM are more likely to experience IR than their non-GDM counterparts (Elkind-hirsch *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, increased serum insulin level at screening in early pregnancy can predict GDM because, the higher the serum insulin level, the earlier the manifestation of GDM (Bitó *et al.*, 2005).

Insulin resistance was significantly associated with high body fat percentage meaning that increased fat deposition exposes pregnant woman to IR condition; however, MUAC and prepregnancy BMI were not associated with IR after adjusting for other risk factors. This divergence may reflect that pre-pregnancy BMI was determined for few pregnant women as the majority could not recall their pre-pregnancy body weight and determination of weight at early stage of pregnancy was not possible due to late start of ANC attendance. Another reason could be that the recalled weights are sometimes under-reported (i.e., most obese/overweight women report low weights) (Saleem *et al.*, 2013).

Pregnancy is associated with increased maternal adiposity and storage of carbohydrates and fat, as an evolutionary adaptation to facilitate successful lactation; but, the deposition within skeletal muscle and liver cells is a major contributory factor to IR (Ravikumar *et al.*, 2005). Several studies have supported this finding, such as a study from Japan which reported a significant relationship between HOMA-IR and body fat percentage in patients with a normal or below normal BMI level (Sasaki *et al.*, 2016). Similarly, a study from Turkey reported that body weight and BMI did not reflect body composition, particularly body fat, which is considered to be closely related to IR (Gur *et al.*, 2014). Svensson *et al.* (2016) in Sweden reported that body fat mass and the proportion of very large adipocytes were strongly associated with gestational IR.

Women with a family history of T2DM experienced three times the risk of IR than their counterparts. This finding may reflect that GDM and T2DM share a similar genetic background, which may clarify why women with strong first-degree family history of T2DM are at high risk of GDM (Kwak *et al.*, 2012). Another similar study found family history of diabetes and hypertension to play important roles in IR syndrome (Velasquez-Mieyer *et al.*, 2005).

Maternal age was not significantly associated with IR after adjusting for body fat percentage, family history of T2DM, hypertension, presence of edema, and proteinuria. This is because, IR was also prevalent among younger women where 13 out of 49 women with IR were below 25 years of age. This finding could be explained by overweight and obesity, which often increases with age however, more recent trends have shown that women become obese and overweight at a younger age as in this study where 10 out of 47 obese/overweight women were below 25 years of age. Another similar study reported that the prevalence of overweight/obesity among young adults (18 to 25 years old) in developing countries is increasing mostly among females (Poobalan & Aucott, 2016).

This increases their chance for developing NCDs at younger age, such as diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular diseases. Another study reported no significant difference in age of the mothers in IR case groups (Sonagra *et al.*, 2014). Contrary to the current study's finding, Karakelides *et al.* (2010) reported that age affects insulin sensitivity, meaning that increase in age, leads to progressive increase in IR which is a proxy for GDM and T2DM. Moreover, age of onset of diabetes and pre-diabetes is declining while age of childbearing is increasing. Overweight and obesity is increasing among women of reproductive age according to Tanzania National Nutrition Survey (MoHCDGEC *et al.*, 2018) making more women to enter pregnancy with some risk factors that make them vulnerable to IR and GDM (Hod *et al.*, 2015).

Pregnant women with hypertension had almost three times increased risk for IR than those with normal blood pressure levels. Most of the pregnant women with IR were also found to have HIP, which is associated with development of pregnancy hypertension. A similar study concurs with these findings that diseases, such as hypertension and diabetes, are associated with existence of IR (Catalano, 2010). Hyperinsulinemia may predispose a woman to hypertension by increasing renal sodium reabsorption and stimulation of the sympathetic nervous system (Reaven, 1995). Furthermore, the features of the IR syndrome may persist

many years after pregnancy raising the possibility of increased risk for future cardiovascular disease which is manifested by hypertension. Thus, interventions to reduce IR may reduce risk of both hypertension during pregnancy and later life cardiovascular complications (Seely & Solomon, 2003).

Likewise, pregnant women with edema which is normal condition but was also observed in the arms and faces with an addition of proteinuria, experienced three times the risk of IR as compared to their counterparts even after adjusted for body fat percentage, family history of T2DM, hypertension and age. As the presence of edema, proteinuria and/or hypertension indicate the risk for preeclampsia, women with risk for preeclampsia may also experience IR. A study from Iran found that IR is considered a risk factor for preeclampsia pathogenesis meaning that preeclampsia is associated with increased IR before the onset of the disease (Abhari, 2014). In addition, research done at Kermanshah in Iran reported that women who developed preeclampsia had higher fasting insulin levels at the second trimester, before the appearance of clinical signs of preeclampsia, as well as fasting insulin level progressively increases when disease develops (Malek-Khosravi & Kaboudi, 2004). These findings show that preeclampsia and IR have a casual and effect relationship.

Hence, identification of women with IR and exploration of associated risk factors can be a starting point towards the prevention of GDM as well as T2DM later in life. Although IR has been found to be significantly associated with several risk factors, the CI of some variables were wide which may be due to a relatively small sample of 230 pregnant women. This may affect results as it implies that there is not enough information to confidently conclude that the observed outcome is within the population parameters, although the results are still practically meaningful. Hence, additional research with a larger sample is needed (Sim & Reid, 1999).

4.2.4 Knowledge about hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women

This study assessed knowledge of the pregnant women on HIP for appropriate interventions to be planned to prevent short and long-term effects of HIP to the mother and her newborn through self-care. It also included sources of information and general practices of screening and managing HIP to understand how pregnant women are screened for diabetes/GDM and managed as part of the antenatal care.

The majority of the pregnant women in this study had poor knowledge on the existence of HIP, which may increase the likelihood of associated effects as these women may continue with poor lifestyle choices regardless of their condition. This finding is in line with the behavior change model under the Health Belief Model which explains that, after having knowledge on different aspects of a health condition, behavior change occurs when people feel to be vulnerable and perceive the consequences of the condition as severe. Finally, individual's behavior can change if they realize that taking action may either prevent or reduce the risk of the condition at an affordable cost (Irwin, 1974; Janz & Marshall, 1988).

Low knowledge about HIP in the studied pregnant women may reflect that, the health system is not prioritizing HIP in the ANC as a risk factor for poor pregnancy outcomes as opposed to HIV, malaria, and tuberculosis which are given significant attention in current FANC guidelines. The standard treatments and essential medicines list guidelines include GDM screening using fasting plasma blood and 2 hours OGTT (MoHSW, 2013). This guideline also recommends the condition to be managed before and throughout pregnancy along with control of glucose levels by diet, oral hypoglycemic and/or insulin. The blood sugar should be maintained within the range of 4-6 mmol/L throughout pregnancy and during labour the glucose needs to be checked after every 4 hours to detect any signs of hypoglycemia and managed it accordingly (MoHSW, 2013). Also, the same guidelines recommend monitoring of the blood sugar after delivery to adjust insulin requirements (MoHSW, 2013).

Although there is sufficient information on GDM screening and management in some guidelines, these guidelines are seldom incorporated into the ANC services to meaningfully impact accessibility and affordability of this important intervention. It is imperative that the health care system integrate these guidelines into the ANC so that they can be consistently applied by the health care providers who typically adhere to such guidelines.

The disintegrated information in the health system limits the health care providers in promoting and attending this pregnancy challenge in the ANC programs. This finding was consistent with a similar study in North Karnataka where most of the women had poor knowledge about GDM (Dhyani *et al.*, 2018). However, a study conducted in Samoa reported that a high proportion of women (58%) were aware that GDM can occur initially during pregnancy and 23% indicated uncertainty and the remaining 19% were not aware of the disease at all (Price *et al.*, 2017).

Knowledge about HIP in the current study was significantly associated with level of education where the majority of women with knowledge had attained secondary or college/university levels of education. On the other hand knowledge on HIP was not associated with occupation, income, age and gravidity after adjusting for education levels. The possible explanation is that educated women can easily search for information from different sources and may have obtained HIP knowledge at school either through training or sharing of experiences. A similar study from Ghana reported that pregnant women with higher levels of education were more aware of the risk factors associated with GDM and, possibly, its management and outcomes (Azu & Essel, 2017).

In the current study, the level of income and occupation were not associated with knowledge after adjusting for education because most of the educated women were also employed and have high income compared with their counter parts. This finding mirrors a study from the urban areas of Chidambaram where no significant association between occupation and GDM knowledge was indicated (Lakshmi *et al.*, 2018).

It is also observed in this study that, age of the respondent was not associated with knowledge on the existence of HIP which may be due to fact that most of the young women were educated which might have influenced their level of knowledge. Another similar study supported that age of the woman was not significantly associated with knowledge about GDM (Elmekresh *et al.*, 2017).

Majority of pregnant women in this study have low knowledge on the effects of HIP to the mother or the newborn because very few understood that HIP can cause stillbirth, diabetes later in life to the mother and the newborn, as well as childhood and adult obesity. Low knowledge on effects of HIP may complicate the implementation of diagnosis, prevention, and management interventions as women may not see the importance of regular screening and prevention. This is because behavior change is greatly influenced by an understanding on the possible consequences of the condition. The current finding is supported by Bhavadharini *et al.* (2017) that most of the participants were unaware of the possible effects of GDM on the mother or the new born. Similarly, knowledge on the effects of GDM was poor as most of the women did not know its consequences after pregnancy and the increased risk for T2DM in future (Elamurugan & Arounassalame, 2016; Shriraam *et al.*, 2013).

Most of the participants in this study were not informed on the risk factors for HIP, while this is a very important aspect of self-care as it can help in earlier self-identification for immediate action to prevent adverse pregnancy outcomes and long-life health effects. A similar study in India reported that, although a greater proportion of the women was aware of the conditions of diabetes mellitus (DM) and GDM, knowledge about the risk factors, causes of GDM, and future risk for T2DM was low (Shriraam *et al.*, 2013). The same study stressed that proper precautions and self-care can be taken if women have good knowledge about the risk factors and the consequences that they may face due to untreated GDM (Shriraam *et al.*, 2013).

The main source of information about HIP in the current study was reported to be different media, such as newsletters, radios, internet and television, what sap although of note very few women reported to have received the information from ANC. Most of the women declared that it was their first time to hear about HIP during the introduction of the current study. This finding affirms that most pregnant women do not have accessible important information regarding critical health issues.

The appropriate source of information was expected to be the ANC but, it was the least used source, which is likely attributable to lack of HIP information within the ANC programs. This insight creates a need to incorporate HIP in ANC guidelines to enable healthcare providers include it in their day-to-day education programs for easier access by pregnant many women. The findings from the current study are in line with studies in India and Samoa which reported that, although it is encouraging to see the role played by mass media in creating awareness about GDM, the healthcare providers were mentioned as a source of information by very few women (Price *et al.*, 2017; Shriraam *et al.*, 2013). Another study reported that although the physicians and healthcare providers were mentioned as the source of information by only 19.4% of the studied women, the rest got it from the mass media or other sources however health care providers are still the most preferable source of information (Elmekresh *et al.*, 2017).

Hence, health care providers should be a reliable source of information to provide knowledge among antenatal women by including HIP in their routine health care education programs (Shriraam *et al.*, 2013). Another study in Bangladesh reported that most of the GDM women obtained knowledge from their neighbors (47.6%) and family (42.9%) whereas both medical

professionals and neighbors (30%) provided knowledge among normal pregnant women (Monir *et al.*, 2018).

Majority of the women in the current study reported to been rarely screened for HIP in their previous pregnancies unless for those who shown to have symptoms where the common screening method used was glucose test in urine. A large proportion of pregnant women reported to have never being tested for GDM in their previous pregnancies implies that, HIP testing and management is not given priority in the ANC programs in Tanzania. Hence, many women may have undiagnosed GDM which can result into unfavorable pregnancy outcome and or later progress into T2DM.

The women who were detected with glucose in urine in their previous pregnancy declared that they were referred to the doctor with no follow up from the ANC. This gap yields a need for monitoring and follow-up of these women to ensure that management is done appropriately. This finding is supported by a similar study done in 30 health facilities in Tanzania where urine tests for protein and glucose were commonly performed, but blood glucose testing was rarely done unless in the case of positive urine tests, suspect symptoms, or known diabetes diagnosis (Ramaiya *et al.*, 2018). It was reported that some health facilities have never found any woman with glycosuria, which is likely due to low sensitivity of urine test strips in detecting GDM cases (Ramaiya *et al.*, 2018).

Also, in some facilities, incidence of HIP was very low likely due to missed opportunities caused by limited screening for diabetes and poor documentation. Similar to the current findings, Utz *et al.* (2017) found that the majority of the pregnant women are referred to either a general practitioner or a specialist after diagnosis of GDM. Another study conducted in rural India was inconsistent with these findings as pregnant women were screened for GDM using blood samples and monitored at least once weekly (Appajigol & Bellary, 2015). Although referrals are common due to lack of enough specialists for diabetes care in many developing settings, the additional costs may increase the rate of lost to follow-up and drop out (Beran & Yudkin, 2006; Nielsen *et al.*, 2012). Hence, pregnant women can adhere to early diagnosis, follow up and general self-care interventions if they know their conditions and costs associated with unmanaged GDM.

4.2.5 Simple method for identification of women with/at risk of gestational diabetes mellitus

The current study developed a risk score for Tanzania's ANC settings to enhance self-care and evidence-based treatment. The observed high prevalence of HIP especially in a form of GDM may increase burden to the health system if no instant measures are taken. This created a need to explore for the associated risk factors to develop a simple method for selective screening to give priority to the high risk women due to limited recourses.

The developed risk score involved maternal and clinical characteristics, such as high MUAC ≥ 28 cm, body fat $\geq 38\%$, family history of T2DM and history of delivery macrosomic babies (≥ 4 kg) at birth. Macrosomic delivery is a pregnancy outcome which implies that, more glucose was transferred from the mother to the fetus, resulting into more weight gaining for the fetus. The healthcare interventions on screening and managing GDM can target women with these risk factors to reduce their risks of developing GDM. In this case family history of T2DM, was identified as being a more important predictor for GDM followed by tendency of delivery macrosomic babies, body fat $\geq 38\%$ and lastly MUAC ≥ 28 cm with the lowest score.

This risk score was found to perform well with an AUC of 97%, implying that the developed risk score can strongly discriminate the randomly selected women who are experiencing GDM from those not experiencing the condition. Furthermore, this risk score model was compared with fasting, OGTT and urine glucose test models and found to perform better than the other three models followed by the fasting and OGTT models, while urine glucose test model was invaluable. This implies that, if urine sample is used as a solely method to screen for GDM, most of the pregnant women with GDM would be left undiagnosed.

This is observed in the current study whereby only 0.9% of the pregnant women with GDM were identified using urine samples. This is supported by a study done in Tanzanian health facilities which revealed that glucose testing using urine samples is a common practice in ANC however, due to its insensitivity, a large proportion of women with or at risk of GDM remain undiagnosed (Ramaiya *et al.*, 2018). Another study supports that, as in most low-and middle-income healthcare settings, reagent-strip glycosuria testing is a routine ANC practice in Ghana and diagnostic decision is made based on its outcome (Agbozo *et al.*, 2018).

Furthermore, the utility of the risk score model was assessed using a net benefit (NB) curve and the NB of using the risk scoring model was compared with the NB of testing all patients or testing no patient. In this case, it was found that the risk score model has higher NB at any given threshold compared to universal and/or not testing any woman. This implies that, the model has high clinical value in the studied population as most as the women (more than 80%) with high risk can benefit from the screening program. Another study reported that the presence of risk factors followed by 1-hour OGTT and FPG models were more sensitive compared with glycosuria, random blood glucose and glycated hemoglobin, which were highly insensitive and diagnostically poor, and hence missed majority of the GDM cases (Agbozo *et al.*, 2018).

The developed tool has an ability to identify about 98% of the pregnant women with positive result and 46% of truly negative women at the selected threshold of 0.2. This means that it can correctly identify most of the women with or at risk of GDM in these ANC settings to allow additional testing to few women for further actions to be taken to prevent short- and long-term health effects to the mother and the newborn. The application of this tool will also potentially increase efficient use of the scarce resources to enhance treatment based practices to give priority to the high risk women to reduce costs and inconveniences. Several similar studies have been conducted to develop selective screening methods and found that the strategies perform well in reducing unnecessary testing and increase early identification of women with or at risk of GDM (Sweeting *et al.*, 2017; Harrison *et al.*, 2015; Fawole *et al.*, 2014; Teede *et al.*, 2011; Caliskan *et al.*, 2004; Zheng *et al.*, 2019; Artzi *et al.*, 2020). These results encourage the use of selective screening for early identification of women at risk of GDM and/or in areas with limited resources.

Most of the already published selective strategies have been developed using variety of risk factors for example a similar study was conducted in Tanzania and developed a selective screening tool which involved MUAC ≥ 28 cm, stillbirth and family history of diabetes with an ability to identify 69% of the GDM women (Nombo *et al.*, 2018). The slight disparities observed in this model with the current study's model, may be due differences in diagnosis criteria where the current study used the WHO (2013) criteria with low threshold values and the previous study used the WHO (1999) criteria with high threshold values (Nombo *et al.*, 2018). It might also be due to inclusion of more risk factors including body fat percentage that can replace BMI although not very well explored. Another study done in Nigeria

reported that; history of diabetes mellitus (DM), tendency of delivery to macrosomic baby, and history of previous unexplained stillbirth were predictors of GDM hence, they were included in the risk factor checklist for screening GDM (Fawole *et al.*, 2014).

On the other hand, Caliskan *et al.* (2004) developed a risk score which included maternal age, BMI and first-degree relatives with diabetes mellitus, a prior macrosomic fetus (> 4000 g) and adverse outcome in the previous pregnancies. Their score was found to have an ability for decreasing the number of women to be screened by 63%, still diagnosing 85% of cases with GDM showing a good performance of the model. This supports the current results partially, but varies as it included BMI which was difficult to determine in the current study setting. Other studies done in Nigeria and China were also contrary to these findings because they reported that the pre-gestational BMI > 25 kg/m² was a determinant of GDM (Nielsen *et al.*, 2016; Zheng *et al.*, 2019). This varied from the current findings as most of the women could not recall their pre-pregnancy weight and were late to start ANC with an average of 18 weeks of gestation which made it in-determinant during pregnancy. Instead, the current study used body fat percentage in addition to MUAC as a proxy for BMI because it can easily be measured during pregnant as well as post-delivery.

Also, body fat percentage is a good indicator of fat deposition compared to BMI which may be affected by weight of the fetus and the fluids which accumulate during pregnancy. A study done in India reported that the estimation of weight for determining BMI may be susceptible to certain bias as it is partly based on self-reported weight or weight measured at first antenatal care visit potentially leading to over-or under-estimation of BMI (Nielsen *et al.*, 2016).

Maternal age was not significantly associated with development of GDM in the current study which may be attributed by changes in life style that has made more young women to be overweight/obese with high risk of developing NCDs including GDM. Another similar study reported that, by definition the selective strategy detects more cases of GDM among older women with higher BMI and misses more cases among younger women with lower body-mass indexes. Therefore, it is very unlikely that this shift in detection patterns is harmful (Naylor *et al.*, 1997). Another model which was developed in China for early screening of GDM was contrary to the current developed model because age was found to be a good predictor of GDM (Zheng *et al.*, 2019). It is also reported that due to higher fertility rates in younger women, nearly half (48.9%) of all cases of HIP (that is GDM and DIP) occurred

among women under the age of 30 years (IDF, 2017). This is also supported by similar study which reported that, the age of onset of diabetes mellitus and pre-diabetes is declining (Hod *et al.*, 2015).

Insulin resistance was positively associated with GDM in this study but it could not be involved in the risk score development due to its associated diagnostic costs, as the aim of the current study was to develop a simple and cost-effective method. However, as IR was associated with hypertension and presence of edema, which are indicative of preeclampsia, these factors were included in the final risk factors checklist to involve women with IR but not yet developed GDM. A similar study reported that women with GDM are more likely to experience IR than their non-GDM counterparts (Elkind-Hirsch *et al.*, 2010).

Furthermore, increased serum insulin level at screening in early pregnancy can predict GDM as it is reported that, the higher the serum insulin level, the earlier the manifestation of GDM (Bitó *et al.*, 2005). In this case, the inclusion of risk factors for IR is important for early identification of women at risk of GDM to prevent the development of GDM, and T2DM as insulin is an indication of future diabetes. This finding makes the developed tool to be very useful in early identification of women at increased risk for GDM even before pregnancy for immediate preventive actions to be taken to prevent short and long-term health effects to the mother and her new born.

Based on the current developed tool with factors that can be assessed even before or in the early stage of pregnancy, most of the women at risk of GDM could be identified before or during pregnancy to allow timely intervention to improve maternal and neonatal outcomes. Moreover, monitoring and testing of women for GDM throughout pregnancy can be performed according to the need of the individual patient (van Leeuwen *et al.*, 2010) hence, a more personalized approach to the health care interventions. It is also reported that a better understanding of the risk factors for GDM may not only add to the knowledge of the pathways leading to GDM, but also inform and enable health care providers to focus on women at increased risk for whom earlier and repeated screening may be of greatest importance (Nielsen *et al.*, 2016). Another similar study developed selective models and found that they may allow early-stage intervention in high-risk women, as well as a cost-effective screening approach that could avoid the need for glucose tolerance tests by identifying low-risk women (Artzi *et al.*, 2020).

Contrary to the current findings several studies have reported that risk factors have poor predictive value and fail to identify a large proportion of women with GDM which limits their use (Adam & Rheeder 2017; Matta-Coelho *et al.*, 2019; Agbozo *et al.*, 2018). Another review was done to validate 12 published GDM risk scores and reported that the most common predictors were age, adiposity, family history of diabetes, history of GDM, ethnicity, and history of macrosomia. The reviewed scores performed only moderately therefore, requested for more research to be done before putting the scores into practice (Lamain-de Ruiter *et al.*, 2016; Huvinen *et al.*, 2018). In line with this, some meta-analysis suggest that irrespective of the method used, risk factors do not identify women with GDM well (Farrar *et al.*, 2017), but it is still important to consider these selective screening as they can help in early identification of women at risk for timely management especially in resource limited areas. Another study done in Nigeria reported that a checklist of risk factors for GDM should be included their antenatal protocols to ensure proper identification of women with GDM is done thoroughly (Fawole *et al.*, 2014).

Some researchers in India attempted to develop a risk factor based scoring variables for screening GDM, but none of the risk factors or their accumulation were strong enough to clearly discriminate between those with and without HIP in all their settings, emphasizing the need for universal screening for GDM/DIP (Nielsen *et al.*, 2016). Universal screening is highly recommended given availability of financial, material, space and human resources however it needs implementing multiple testing during pregnancy for all women which is not only costly, but operationally challenging (Nielsen *et al.*, 2016). This makes selective screening using maternal and clinical characteristics to be important especially in low income countries with limited resources.

For operationalization of the developed risk score which was simplifies into a risk factors checklist, the health system needs to integrate it into the ANC services from the point of entry with history taking and throughout during counselling and regular education programs. This tool can be effective if it is used at the first ANC and in subsequent visits as some of the risk factors can arise at the middle or late stages of pregnancy. This will increase knowledge about GDM as a risk for poor pregnancy outcomes. When a woman is identified having one of the risk factors in the checklist, can be referred to the doctor for more actions to be taken as what is done in other conditions indicated in the FANC guideline (Kearns *et al.*, 2014). This can help to give priority to high risk women when resources are limited while planning

for universal screening, which needs more resources. The developed tool can also be used by women for self-identification even before pregnancy to enhance proper preconception preparations.

4.3 Limitation of the study

Although results from this study are encouraging, the study was conducted in a population which is ethnically homogenous Africans, which limits generalizability of the findings. Moreover, the study involved a small sample size that resulted in wider CIs in some of the associations among variables which may reduce the precision of the study due to distribution effect. However, the study is still useful as it is a bases for an additional longitudinal study with large sample and improved follow-up methods.

4.4 Methodological challenges in the current study

The study faced biases on data collection where participants had to recall some information such as pre-pregnancy weight which may lead into over- or- underestimation. Hence to avoid this biasness, body fat percentage and MUAC were used to assess nutrition status of the pregnant women to replace BMI. Among 24 health facilities with both ANC and delivery services, only 2 centers were selected, which may not be representative of the health facilities, leading to bias in extrapolation as we cannot feel confident that these results will serve as a parameter of the urban population. This is because, internal and external validity are undermined.

Hence, random sampling was used to reduce this biasness effect. Furthermore potential confounders between dependent and independent variables during data analysis were identified including maternal age, income and parity. These confounders were controlled by running multivariate analysis to reduce their effects on associations among variables (K1einbaum *et al.*, 1982).

CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Conclusion

The prevalence of HIP, especially in the form of GDM, was high in urban areas of Arusha City and significantly associated with family history of T2DM, tendency of delivering macrosomic babies (≥ 4 kg), MUAC ≥ 28 cm and high body fat $\geq 38\%$. Likewise, the prevalence of IR was higher among pregnant women with family histories of T2DM, high body fat percentage, presence of edema, and hypertension. Screening and management for HIP is not a common practice in the antenatal services offered in Tanzania, which creates a scenario in which the condition is not given priority in the health care system as a risk for poor pregnancy outcomes.

Universal screening for IR or HIP (GDM and DIP) and early intervention may help to reduce the associated complications, but very expensive, which created a need to develop a risk score. The developed risk score was found to perform well as it was able to predict 98% of high-risk women compared to the universal screening of all pregnant women. Hence, it was simplified into a risk factors checklist for ease of interpretation and application. Conversely, knowledge about HIP was very low among the participated pregnant women and influenced by maternal education levels. The main source of information about HIP was reported to be social and mass media while care providers were expected to be the reliable source of this important health condition.

5.2 **Recommendations**

Hyperglycemia in pregnancy is a substantial health problem however, it has received minimal attention from the health system. This calls for the policy makers to strengthen the ANC programs to include routine HIP screening, diagnosis, management and follow-up to prevent short and long-term effects to the mother and the newborn. To be effective the national health policy needs to be amended to recommend routine screening for GDM using universal strategies with sufficient resources or selective screening when resources are limited to give priority to the high-risk women.

Hence, to adopt either universal or selective screening, different health stakeholders should join efforts to validate these findings using a large longitudinal national study with large sample size representing all regions of the country. Furthermore, a trial of the validated tool should be done in one of the zones in the country. The health system needs to integrate different health stakeholders in prevention of HIP (GDM and DIP) through regular ANC education programs using different media to enhance self-care to address the various risk factors. This can help in proper preconception preparations, care during pregnancy, and postdelivery period. The health system is fragmented which may reduce efforts to solve related conditions. Hence, there is a need for the health system to amend different NCDs strategies, programs and policies to include HIP as one of the prioritized NCDs to reduce the burden of diabetes.

REFERENCES

- Abhari, F. R., Ghanbari, A. M., Farokhfar, A., & Ahmady, S. (2014). Estimating rate of insulin resistance in patients with preeclampsia using HOMA-IR index and comparison with nonpreeclampsia pregnant women. *Biomedical International Research*, 2014,1-6.
- Adam, S., & Rheeder, P. (2017). Selective screening strategies for gestational diabetes: A prospective cohort observational study. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 107(6), 523-527.
- Agarwal, M. M., Weigl, B., & Hod, M. (2011). Gestational diabetes screening: The low-cost algorithm. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 115 (Supplement 1), S30–S33.
- Agbozo, F., Abubakari, A., Narh, C., & Jahn, A. (2018). Accuracy of glycosuria, random blood glucose and risk factors as selective screening tools for gestational diabetes mellitus in comparison with universal diagnosing. *BMJ Open Diabetes Research Care*, 6(1), e000493.
- Alfadhli, E. M. (2015). Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). *Saudi Medical Journal*, 36(4), 399–406.
- Al-Noaemi, M. C., & Shalaye, M. H. F. (2011). Pathophysiology of gestational diabetes mellitus: The past, the present and the future. *Gestational diabetes*, 6, 91-114.
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. (2003). Weight control: Assessment and management. *Clinical Updates in Women's Health Care*, 2 (3), 93-96.
- American Diabetes Association. (2018). Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: Standards of medical care in diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 41 (Supplement 1), S13–S27.
- American Diabetes Association. (2017). Standards of medical care in diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 40 (Supplement 1), S11–S24.

- American Diabetes Association. (2016). Classification and diagnosis of diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 39(Supplement 1), S13-S22.
- American Diabetes Association. (2010). Definition and description of diabetes other categories of glucose. *Diabetes Care*, 33 (Supplement 1), S62–S69.
- American Diabetes Association. (2013). Economic costs of diabetes in the U. S. in 2012. Diabetes Care, 36, 1033–1046.
- American Diabetes Association. (2014). Standards of medical care in diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 37 (Supplement I), S14-S80.
- American Diabetes Association. (2013). Standards of medical care in diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 36 (Supplement 1), S11-S66.
- Appajigol, J. S., & Bellary, S. (2015). Knowledge and practices of rural family physicians and obstetricians towards gestational diabetes mellitus. *International Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health*, 2(2), 153-155.
- Asare-anane, H., Bawah, A. T., Ofori, E. K., & Amanquah, S. D. (2014). Risk factors for gestational diabetes mellitus among Ghanaian women at the Korle-Bu Teaching Hospital. *Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare*, 4(12), 54–57.
- Asare-Anane, H., Bawah, A. T, Osa-Andrews, B., Adanu, R., Ofori, E. K., Tagoe, S. B. R., & Nyarko, A. K. (2013). Lipid profile in Ghanaian women with gestational diabetes. *International Journal of Scientific and Technology Research*, 2(4), 168-172.
- Artzi, N. S., Shilo, S., Hadar, E., Rossman, H., Barbash-Hazan, S., Ben-Haroush, A., Balicer, R. D., Feldman, B., Wiznitzer, A., & Segal, E. (2020). Prediction of gestational diabetes based on nationwide electronic health records. *Nature Medicine*, 26(1), 71–76.
- Ay, L., Kruithof, C. J., Bakker, R., Steegers, E. A. P., Witteman, J. C. M., Moll, H. A., Hofman, A., Mackenbach, J. P., Hokken-Koelega, A. C. S., & Jaddoe, V. (2009). Maternal anthropometrics are associated with fetal size in different periods of pregnancy and at birth. The generation R study. *International Journal of Obstretrics and Gyneocology*, 116(7), 953–963.

- Azu, T. D., & Essel, J. (2017). Awareness and knowledge of gestational diabetes mellitus among pregnant women at the Tema General Hospital, Ghana. An International Journal of Nursing and Midwifery, 1(2), 33-40.
- Baker, D.W. (2006). The meaning and the measure of health literacy. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 21(1), 878–883.
- Begum, P., Shaha, D. R., & Walid, K. M. (2017). Gestational diabetes mellitus and associated risk factors in patients attending diabetic association medical college Hospital in Faridpur. *Journal Enam Medical College*, 7(3), 126-33.
- Ben-Haroush, A., Yogev, Y., & Hod, M. (2003). Epidemiology of gestational diabetes mellitus and its association with Type 2 diabetes. *Diabetic Medicine*, 21(2), 103–113.
- Beran, D., & Yudkin, J. S. (2006). Diabetes care in sub-Saharan Africa. *Lancet*, 368(9548), 1689–1695.
- Berggren, E. K., Groh-Wargo, S., Presley, L., Hauguel-de Mouzon, S., & Catalano, P. M. (2016). Maternal fat, but not lean, mass is increased among overweight/obese women with excess gestational weight gain. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 214(6), 745. e1-745.e5.
- Bhavadharini, B., Deepa, M., Nallaperumal, S., Anjana, R. M., & Mohan, V. (2017). Knowledge about gestational diabetes mellitus amongst pregnant women in South Tamil Nadu. *Journal of Diabetology*, 8(1), 22-6.
- Bhavadharini, B., Mohanraj, M., & Kumar, M. (2016). Use of capillary blood glucose for screening for gestational diabetes mellitus in resource-constrained settings. Acta Diabetology, 53(1), 91–97.
- Bitó, T., Földesi, I., Nyári T., & Pál, A. (2005). Prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus in a high-risk group by insulin measurement in early pregnancy. *Diabetic Medicine*, 22(10), 1434–1439.
- Brouns, F., Bjorck, I., Frayn, K. N., Gibbs, A. L., Lang, V., Slama, G., & Wolever, T. M. (2005). Glycaemic index methodology. *Nutrition Research and Reviews*, 18(1), 145– 171.

- Buchanan, T. A., & Xiang, A. H. (2005). Science in medicine gestational diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 115(3), 485–491.
- Buhling, K. J., Elze, L., Henrich, W., Starr, E., Stein, U., Siebert, G., & Dudenhausen, J. W. (2004). The usefulness of glycosuria and the influence of maternal blood pressure in screening for gestational diabetes. *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 113(2), 145–148.
- Caliskan, E., Kayikcioglu, F., Öztürk, N., Koc, S., & Haberal, A. (2004). A population-based risk factor scoring will decrease unnecessary testing for the diagnosis of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 83(6), 524–530.
- Carson, M. P., Frank, M. I., & Keely, E. (2013). Postpartum testing rates among women with a history of gestational diabetes: Systematic review. *Primary Care Diabetes*, 7 (3), 177– 186.
- Catalano, P. (2010). Obesity, insulin resistance and pregnancy outcome. *Reproduction*, 140(3), 365–371.
- Catalano, P. M. (2014). Trying to understand gestational diabetes. *Diabetic Medicine*, 31(3), 273–281.
- Catalano, P.M, Roman-Drago, N. M, Amini, S. B., & Sims, E. A. (1998). Longitudinal changes in body composition and energy balance in lean women with normal and abnormal glucose tolerance during pregnancy. *Amercan Journal Obstetrcs and Gynecologhy*, 179(1), 156–165.
- Catalano, P. M., Tyzbir, E. D., Roman, N. M., Amini, S. B., & Sims, E. A. (1991). Longitudinal changes in insulin release and insulin resistance in non-obese pregnant women. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 165(6), 1667–1672.
- Cunningham, F. G., Leveno, K. J., Bloom, S. L., Hauth, J. C., Rouse, D. J., & Spong, C. Y. (2010). *Obesity* (23rd ed). McGraw-Hill, New York: Williams Obstetrics.
- Daniel, W.W. (1999). *Biostatistics: A foundation for analysis in the health sciences* (7th ed). New York: Wiley and Sons.

- Dhyani, V., Mahantashetti, N. S., Ganachari, M.S., Kambar, S., & Ghatnatti, V. (2018). Awareness of gestational diabetes mellitus among pregnant women attending a tertiary health center. *Indian Journal of Health Science and Biomedical Research*, 11(1), 51–55.
- Di Cianni, G., Miccoli, R., Volpe, L., Lencioni, C., & Del Prato, S. (2003). Intermediate metabolism in normal pregnancy and in gestational diabetes. *Diabetes Metabolism Research and Reviews*, 19(4), 259–270.
- District Health Information System (DHIS) Two. (2018). The District report of 2018 in Arusha District. Arusha, Tanzania: Unpublished report.
- Dode, M. A. S. O., & Dos Santos, I. S. (2009). Non classical risk factors for gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review of the literature. *Cad. Saúde Pública, Rio de Janeiro*, 25 (Supplement 3), S341-S359.
- Elamurugan, S., & Arounassalame, B. (2016). What do mothers know about gestational diabetes: Knowledge and awareness. *Indian Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology Research*, 3(4), 393–396.
- Elkind-hirsch, K. E., Ogden, B. W., Darensbourg, C. J., & Schelin, B. L. (2010). Clinical assessment of insulin action during late pregnancy in women at risk for gestational diabetes: Association of maternal glycemia with perinatal outcome. *International Journal of Diabetes Mellitus*, 2(1), 3–9.
- Elmekresh, A., Abu-Halimeh, B., Abukhater, R., Bakro, A., & Nahab, S. (2017). Gestational diabetes awareness in women of childbearing age in Sharjah. *Global Journal of Obesity, Diabetes and Metabolic Syndrome*, 4(2), 51-53.
- Fakier, A., Petro, G., & Fawcus, S. (2017). Mid-upper arm circumference: A surrogate for body mass index in pregnant women. *South African Medical Journal*, 107(7), 606–610.
- Farrar, D., Simmonds, M., Bryant, M., Lawlor, D. A., Dunne, F., Tuffnell, D., & Sheldon, T. A. (2017). Risk factor screening to identify women requiring oral glucose tolerance testing to diagnose gestational diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis and analysis of two pregnancy cohorts. *PLoS One*, 12(4), e0175288.

- Fawole, A. O., Ezeasor, C., Bello, F. A., Roberts, A., Awoyinka, B. S., Tongo, O., & Ipadeola, A. (2014). Effectiveness of a structured checklist of risk factors in identifying pregnant women at risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: A cross-sectional study. *Nigerian Journal of Clinical Practice*, 17(4), 495–501.
- Forsbach-Sanchez, G., Tamez-Perez, H. E., & Vazquez-Lara, J. (2005). Diabetes and pregnancy. *Archives of Medical Research*, 36(3), 291–299.
- Gale, C. R., Javaid, M. K., Robinson, S. M., Law, C. M., Godfrey, K. M., & Cooper, C. (2007). Maternal size inpregnancy and body composition in children. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 92(10), 3904–3911.
- Gur, E. B., Ince, O., Turan, G. A., Karadeniz, M., Tatar, S., Celik, E., Yalcin, M., & Guclu,
 S. (2014). Ultrasonographic visceral fat thickness in the first trimester can predict metabolic syndrome and gestational diabetes mellitus. *Endocrine*, 47(2), 478-484.
- Harrell, F. E. (2015). Regression modeling strategies: With applications to linear models, logistic and ordinal regression, and survival analysis (2nd ed). Springer.
- Harrison, C. L., Lombard, C. B. East, C. Boyle, J., & Teede, H. J. (2015). Risk stratification in early pregnancy for women at increased risk of gestational diabetes. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 107 (2015), 61–68.
- Hartling, L., Dryden, D. M., Guthrie, A., Muise, M., Vandermeer, B., & Donovan, L. (2013).
 Benefits and harms of treating gestational diabetes mellitus: A systematic review and meta-analysis for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force and the National Institutes of Health Office of Medical Applications. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 159(2), 123–129.
- Hauth, J. C., Clifton, R. G., Roberts, J. M., Myatt, L., Spong, C. Y., Leveno, K. J., Varner, M.W., Wapner, R. J., Thorp, J. J. M., Mercer, B. M., & Peaceman, A. M. (2011).
 Maternal insulin resistance and preeclampsia. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 204(4), 327.e1–327.e6.
- Hod, M., Kapur, A., Sacks, D. A., Hadar, E., Agarwal, M., Di Renzo, G. C., Cabero, R. L.,
 McIntyre, H. D., Morris, J. L., & Divakar, H. (2015).). The International Federation of
 Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) Initiative on gestational diabetes mellitus: A
 pragmatic guide for diagnosis, management and care. *International Journal of*

Gynecology and Obstetrics, 131(Supplement 3), S173–S211.

- Hungerford, H. R., & Volk, T. L. (1990). Changing learner behavior through environmental education. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 21(3), 8-21.
- Huvinen, E., Eriksson, J. G., Stach, B., Aila, L., & Saila, T. (2018). Heterogeneity of gestational diabetes (GDM) and challenges in developing a GDM risk score. Acta Diabetologica, 55(12), 1251–1259.
- Imoh, L. C., Asorose, S. A., Odo, A. I., Daniel, O. Aina, D. O., & Abu, A. O. (2017). Modification of WHO diagnostic criteria for gestational diabetes: Implications for classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. *International Journal of Reproduction, Contraception, Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 6(7), 2716-2723.
- Imoh, L. C., Ogunkeye, O. O., Isichei, C. O., Gadzama, A. A., & Ekwempu, C. C. (2016). Combining the IADPSG criteria with the WHO diagnostic criteria for gestational diabetes mellitus optimizes predictability of adverse pregnancy outcome. *Tropical Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 33(2), 185–189.
- Institute of Medicine. (2009). Weight gain during pregnancy: Reexamining the guidelines. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- International Diabetes Federation. (2017). *International Diabetes Federation Atlas* (8th ed). Brussels, Belgium: Author.
- International Diabetes Federation. (2013). *International Diabetes Federation Atlas (6th ed)*. Brussels, Belgium: Author.
- Iqbal, R., Rafique, G., Badruddin, S., Qureshi, R., Cue, R., & Gray-Donald, K. (2007). Increased body fat percentage and physical inactivity are independent predictors of gestational diabetes mellitus in South Asian women. *European Journal Clinical Nutrition*, 61(6), 736–742.
- Irwin, R. (1974). "Historical origins of the health belief model". *Health Education and Behavior*, 2(4), 328–335.
- Janz, N. K., & Marshall, H. B. (1984). "The health belief model: A decade later". *Health Education & Behavior*, 11 (1), 1–47.

- Jensen, D. M., Ovesen, P., Beck-Nielsen, H., Mølsted-Pedersen, L., Sørensen, B., Vinter, C., & Damm, P. (2005). Gestational weight gain and pregnancy outcomes in 481 obese glucose-tolerant women. *Diabetes Care*, 28(9), 2118–2122.
- Kaplan, N. M. (1994). *Clinical hypertension (6th ed)*. Philadelphia, USA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Karakelides, H., Irving, B. A., Short, K. R., Brien, P. O., & Nair, K. S. (2010). Skeletal muscle mitochondrial function. *Diabetes*, 59(1), 89–97.
- Kautzky-Willer, A., Pacini, G., Tura, A., Bieglmayer, C., Schneider, B., Ludvik, B., Prager,
 R., & Waldhäusl, W. (2001). Increased plasma leptin in gestational diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 44(2), 164-172.
- Kim, S. Y., Saraiva, C., Curtis, M., Wilson, H. G., Troyan, J., & England, L. (2013). Fraction of gestational diabetes mellitus attributable to overweight and obesity by race/ethnicity, California 2007-2009. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(10), e65–e72.
- Kim, C., McEwen, L. N., Piette, J. D., Goewey, J., Ferrara, A., & Walker, E. A. (2007). Risk perception for diabetes among women with histories of gestational Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 30(9), 2281-2286.
- Kitzmiller, J. L., Dang-Kilduff, L., & Taslimi, M. M. (2007). Gestational diabetes after delivery: Short-term management and long-term risks. *Diabetes Care*, 30(Supplement 2), S225-S235.
- Kjos, S. L., Buchanan, T. A., Greenspoon, J. S., Montoro, M., Bernstein, G. S., & Mestman, J. H. (1990). Gestational diabetes mellitus: The prevalence of glucose intolerance and diabetes melli-tus in the first two months post-partum. *American Journal of Obstetric Gynecology*, 163(1), 93–98.
- Kleinbaum, D. G., Kupper, L. L., & Morgenstern, H. (1982). Epidemiologic research: principles and quantitative methods (6th ed). New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold. John Wiley and Sons.

- Koning, S. H., Lutgers, H. L., Hoogenberg, K., Trompert, C. A., Van den Berg, P. P., & Wolffenbuttel, B. H. R. (2016). Postpartum glucose follow-up and lifestyle management after gestational diabetes mellitus: General practitioner and patient perspectives. *Journal* of Diabetes and Metabolic Disorders, 15(1), 1-9.
- Kotnik, K. Z., & Golja, P. (2012). Changes in body composition of university students in a country in socio-economic transition. *Anthropologischer Anzeiger*, 69(3), 261–271.
- Kuo, C. H., Chen, S. C., Fang, C. T., Nien, F. J., Wu, E. T., Lin, S. Y., Chuang, L. M., Lee, C.N., & Li, H. Y. (2017). Screening gestational diabetes mellitus: The role of maternal age. *PLoS One*, 12(3), e0173049.
- Kwak, S. H., Kim, S. H., Cho, Y. M., Go, M. J., Cho, Y. S., Choi, S. H., Moon, M. K., Jung, H. S., Shin, H. D., Kang, H. M., & Cho, N. H. (2012). A genome-wide association study of gestational diabetes mellitus in Korean women. *Diabetes*, 61(2), 531–541.
- Lain, K. Y., & Catalano, P. M. (2007). Metabolic changes in pregnancy. *Clinical Obstratrics and Gynecology*, 50(4), 938–948.
- Lakshmi, D., Felix, A. J. W., Devi, R., Manobharathi, M., & Felix, A. J. W. (2018). Study on knowledge about gestational diabetes mellitus and its risk factors among antenatal mothers attending care, urban Chidambaram. *International Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health*, 5 (10), 4388-4392.
- Lamain-de Ruiter, M., Kwee, A., Naaktgeboren, C. A., De Groot, I., Evers, I. M., Groenendaal, F., Hering, Y. R., Huisjes, A. J., Kirpestein, C., Monincx, W. M., & Siljee, J. E. (2016). External validation of prognostic models to predict risk of gestational diabetes mellitus in one Dutch cohort: Prospective multicenter cohort study. *British Medical Journal*, 354(1), 4326-4338.
- Lehnen, H., Zechner, U., & Haaf, T. (2013). Epigenetics of gestational diabetes mellitus and offspring health: The time for action is in early stages of life. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, 19(7), 415–422.
- Leng, J., Shao, P., Zhang, C., Tian, H., Zhang, F., Zhang, S., & Yang, X. (2015). Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus and its risk factors in Chinese pregnant women: A prospective population-based study in Tianjin, China. *PLoS One*, 10(3), 1–12.

- Longo-Mbenza, B., Mvindu, H. N., On'kin, J. B. K., Bikuku, N., Phanzu, B. K., Okwe, A. N., & Kabangu, N. (2011). The deleterious effects of physical inactivity on elements of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome in Central Africans at high cardiovascular risk. *Diabetes and Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research and Reviews*, 5(1), 1–6.
- Macaulay, S., Dunger, D. B., & Norris, S. A. (2014). Gestational diabetes mellitus in Africa: A systematic review. *PLoS One*, 9(6), e97871.
- Macfarlane, S. B. (1997). Conducting a descriptive survey: Choosing a sampling strategy. *Tropical Doctor*, 27(1), 4-21.
- Malek-Khosravi, S., & Kaboudi, B. (2004). Insulin changes in preeclamptic women during pregnancy. *Annals of Saudi Medicine*, 24(6), 434–436.
- Masaki, S., Ngoye, A., Petrucka, P., & Buza, J. (2015). Type 2 diabetes prevalence and risk factors of urban Maasai in Arusha Municipality and rural Maasai in Ngorongoro Crater. *Journal of Applied Life Sciences International*, 3(4), 157–168.
- Matta-Coelho, C., Monteiro, A. M, Fernandes, V., Pereira, M. L., & Souto, S. B. (2019). Portuguese diabetes and pregnancy study group. Universal vs. risk-factor-based screening for gestational diabetes: An analysis from a 5-year Portuguese cohort. *Endocrine*, 63(3), 507-512.
- Matthews, D. R., Hosker, J. R., Rudenski, A. S., Naylor, B. A., Treacher, D. F., Turner, R. C., & Infirmary, R. (1985). Homeostasis model assessment: Insulin resistance and Betacell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia*, 28(7), 412–419.
- Matthys, L. A., Coppage, K. H., Lambers, D. S., Barton, J. R., & Sibai, B. M. (2004). Delayed postpartum preeclampsia: An experience of 151 cases. *American Journal of Obstetretics and Gynecology*, 190 (5), 1464-6.
- Metzger, B. E., Gabbe, S.G., Persson, B., Buchanan, T. A., Catalano, P. A., & Damm, P. D. (2010). International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups recommendations on the diagnosis and classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. *Diabetes Care*, 33(3), 676–82.

- Mclachlan, K. A., Neal, D. O., Jenkins, A., & Alford, F. P. (2006). Do adiponectin, TNF α, leptin and CRP relate to insulin resistance in pregnancy? Studies in women with and without gestational diabetes, during and after pregnancy. *Diabetes Metabolism Research and Reviews*, 22(2), 131–138.
- McIntyre, H. D., Chang, A. M., Callaway, L. K., Cowley, D. M., Dyer, A. R., Radaelli, T., Farrell, K.A., Huston-Presley, L., Amini, S.B., Kirwan, J.P., & Catalano, P. M. (2010).
 Hormonal and metabolic factors associated with variations in insulin sensitivity in human pregnancy. *Diabetes Care*, 33(2), 356–360.
- Ministry of Health, Community Development, Gender, Elderly and Children (MoHCDGEC)
 [Tanzania Mainland], Ministry of Health (MoH) [Zanzibar], Tanzania Food and Nutrition Centre (TFNC), National Bureau of Statistics (NBS), Office of the Chief Government Statistician (OCGS) [Zanzibar] and UNICEF. (2018). *Tanzania National Nutrition Survey using SMART Methodology (TNNS) 2018*. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: Author.
- Ministry of Health, Community Development, Gender, Elderly and Children (MoHCDGEC),
 (2017). The National Health Policy, 2017 (6 th ed). For External Consultations with Ministries, Departments and Agencies. Tanzania: Author.
- Ministry of Health, Community Development, Gender, Elderly and Children (MoHCDGEC),
 [Tanzania Mainland, Ministry of Health (MoH) [Zanzibar], National Bureau of Statistics
 (NBS), Office of the Chief Government Statistician (OCGS) and ICF. (2016). 2015-16.
 TDHS-MIS Key Findings. Rockville, Maryland, USA: Author.
- Ministry of Health and Social Welfare (MoHSW). (2013). *Standard treatment guidelines and essential medicines list (6th ed)*. Tanzania: Author.
- Ministry of Health and Social Welfare (MoHSW). (2008). *The National Road Map Strategic Plan To Accelerate Reduction of Maternal, Newborn and Child Deaths in Tanzania*. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: Author
- Monir, N., Zeba, Z., & Rahman, A. (2018). Comparison of knowledge of women with gestational diabetes mellitus and healthy pregnant women attending at Hospital in Bangladesh. *Journal of Science Foundation*, 16(1), 20-26.

- Morton, S., Pencheon, D., & Squires, N. (2017). Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and their implementationA national global framework for health, development and equity needs a systems approach at every level. *British medical bulletin*, 124(1), 1-10.
- Mousa, A., Naderpoor, N., Teede, H. J., De Courten, M. P., Scragg, R., & De Courten, B. (2015). Vitamin D and cardiometabolic risk factors and diseases. *Minerva Endocrinology*, 40(3), 213–230.
- Mrisho, M., Obrist, B., Schellenberg, J. A., Haws, R. A., Mushi, A. K., Mshinda, H., Tanner, M., & Schellenberg, D. (2009). The use of antenatal and postnatal care : perspectives and experiences of women and health care providers in rural southern Tanzania. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 9(10), 1–12.
- Muche, A. A., Olayemi, O. O., & Gete, Y. K. (2019). Prevalence and determinants of gestational diabetes mellitus in Africa based on the updated international diagnostic criteria: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of Public Health*, 77(1), 2-20.
- Mwanri, A. W., Kinabo, J., Ramaiya, K., & Feskens, E. J. M. (2014). Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus in urban and rural Tanzania. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 103(1), 71–78.
- Mwanri, A. W., Kinabo, J., Ramaiya, K., & Feskens, E. J. M. (2015). Gestational diabetes mellitus in sub-Saharan Africa: Systematic review and metaregression on prevalence and risk factors. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 20(8), 983–1002.
- National Bureau of Statistics and Office of Chief Government Statistician President's Office, Finance, Economy and Development Planning Zanzibar (2012). *The United Republic of Tanzania* 2012 population and housing census: Population distribution by administrative areas. Dar-es Salaam, Tanzania: Author.
- National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) [Tanzania] and ICF Macro. (2011). *Tanzania Demographic and Health Survey 2010*. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: Author.
- National Health and Nutrition Examinationa Survey (NHANES). (2007). *Anthropometry procedures manual*(6th ed). Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

- Naylor, C. D., Sermer, M., Chen, E., & Farine, D. (1997). Selective screening for gestational diabetes mellitus. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 337(22), 1591–1596.
- Negrato, C. A., & Gomes, M. B. (2013). Historical facts of screening and diagnosing diabetes in pregnancy. *Diabetology and Metabolic Syndrome*, 5(1), 1-8.
- Nielsen, K. K., De Courten, M., & Kapur, A. (2012). Health system and societal barriers for gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) services-lessons from World Diabetes Foundation supported GDM projects. *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, 12(1), 1-10.
- Nielsen, K. K., Damm, P., Kapur, A., Balaji, V, Balaji, M. S, Seshiah, V., & Bygbjerg, I. C. (2016). Risk factors for hyperglycemia in pregnancy in Tamil Nadu, India. *PloS One*, 11 (3), e0151311.
- Ngala, R. A., Fondjo, L. A., Gmagna, P., Ghartey, F. N., & Awe, M. A. (2017). Placental peptides metabolism and maternal factors as predictors of risk of gestational diabetes in pregnant women: a case-control study. *PLoS One*, 12(7), e0181613.
- Njete, H. I., John, B., Mlay, P., Mahande, M. J., & Msuya, S. E. (2018). Prevalence, predictors and challenges of gestational diabetes mellitus screening among pregnant women in northern Tanzania. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 23(2), 236– 242.
- Nombo, A. P., Mwanri, A.W., Brouwer-Brolsma, E. M., Ramaiya, K. L., & Feskens, E. J. M. (2018). Gestational diabetes mellitus risk score : A practical tool to predict gestational diabetes mellitus risk in Tanzania. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 145, 130– 137.
- Ntui, N. A., Carson, A., Turpin, A. C., Berhanu, T., Agidi, A., Zhang, K., & Jolly, P. E. (2013). Determinants of access to antenatal care and birth outcomes in Kumasi, Ghana. *Journal of Epidemiology and Global Health*, 3(4), 279–288.
- Palani, S., Joseph, N. M., Tegene, Y., & Zacharia, A. M. T. (2014). Gestational diabetes. A review. *Journal of Global Trends in Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 5(2), 1673–1683.

- Pastakia, S. D., Njuguna, B., Ajwang'Onyango, B., Washington, S., Christoffersen-Deb, A., Kosgei, W. K., & Saravanan, P. (2017). Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus based on various screening strategies in western Kenya: A prospective comparison of point of care diagnostic methods. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 17(1), 1–9.
- Plows, J. F., Stanley, J. L., Baker, P. N., Reynolds, C. M., & Vickers, M. H. (2018). The pathophysiology of gestational diabetes mellitus. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(11), 1-21.
- Poobalan, A., & Aucott, L. (2016). Obesity among young adults in developing countries: A systematic overview. *Current Obesity Reports*, 5(1), 2-13.
- Price, L. E., Lock, L. J. P, Archer, L. E., & Ahmed, Z. (2017). Awareness of gestational diabetes and its risk factors among pregnant women in Samoa. *Hawaii Journal of Medical and Public Health*, 76(2), 48–54.
- Qiu, C., Zhang, C., Gelaye, B., Enquobahrie, D. A., Frederick, I. O., & Williams, M. A. (2011). Gestational diabetes mellitus in relation to maternal dietary heme iron and nonheme iron intake. *Diabetes Care*, 34(7), 1564–1569.
- Ramaiya, K. L., Swai, A. M., Mutabingwa, T. K., Mwanri, A. W., & Kagaruki, G. B. (2018). Capacity and capability of Tanzania health facilities to diagnose and manage diabetes mellitus in pregnancy. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 145, 119-129.
- Ramiya, V. K., Maraist, M., Arfors, K. E, Schatz, D. A., Peck, A. B., & Cornelius, J. G. (2000). Reversal of insulin-dependent diabetes using islets generated in vitro from pancreatic stem cells. *Nature Medicine*, 6(3), 278–282.
- Ravikumar, B., Carey, P. E., Snaar, J. E. M., Deelchand, D. K., Cook, D. B., Neely, R. D. G., English, P. T., Firbank, M. J., Morris, P. G., & Taylor, R. (2005). Real-time assessment of postprandial fat storage in liver and skeletal muscle in health and type 2 diabetes. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 288(4), 789–797.
- Reaven, G. M. (1995). Pathophysiology of insulin resistance in human disease. *Physiological Reviews*, 75(3), 473-486.

- Reece, E. A., Leguizamón, G., & Wiznitzer, A. (2009). Gestational diabetes: The need for a common ground. *The Lancet*, 373(9677),1789–1797.
- Reilly, J. J., Armstrong, J., Dorosty, A. R., Emmett, P. M., Ness, A., Rogers, I., Steer, C., & Sherriff, A. (2005). Early life risk factors for obesity in childhood: Cohort study. *British Medical Journal*, 330 (7504), 1357–1359.
- Retnakaran, R., Hanley, A. J., Raif, N., Connelly, P. W., Sermer, M., & Zinman, B. (2004). Reduced adiponectin concentration in women with gestational diabetes: A potential factor in progression to type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 27(3), 799-800.
- Retnakaran, R., Hanley, A. J., Raif, N., Connelly, P. W., Sermer, M., & Zinman, B. (2003).
 C-reactive protein and gestational diabetes: The central role of maternal obesity. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 88(8), 3507-3512.
- Retnakaran, R., Qi, Y., Sermer, M., Connelly, P. W., Zinman, B., & Hanley, A. J. G. (2009). Pre-gravid physical activity and reduced risk of glucose intolerance in pregnancy: The role of insulin sensitivity. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 70(4), 615–622.
- Ross, G. (2006). Gestational diabetes. Australian Family Physician, 35(6), 392-396.
- Russell, M. A., Phipps, M. G., Olson, C. L., & Welch, H. G. (2006). Rates of postpartum glucose testing after gestational diabetes mellitus. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 108(6), 1456–1462.
- Ryan, E. A., O'Sullivan, M. J., Skyler, J. S. (1985). Insulin action during pregnancy: Studies with the euglycemic clamp technique. *Diabetes*, 34(4), 380–389.
- Saldana, T. M., Siega-Riz, A. M., & Adair, L. S. (2004). Effect of macronutrient intake on the development of glucose intolerance during pregnancy. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 79(3), 479-486.
- Saleem, M. D., Ahmed, G., Mulla, J., Haider, S. S., & Abbas, M. (2013). Weight misperception amongst youth of a developing country: Pakistan a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 13(1), 1-8.

- Sasaki, R., Yano, Y., Yasuma, T., Onishi, Y., Suzuki, T., Maruyama-Furuta, N., Gabazza, E. C., Sumida, Y., & Takei, Y. (2016). Association of waist circumference and body fat weight with insulin resistance in male subjects with normal body mass index and normal glucose tolerance. *Internal Medicine*, 55(11), 1425-1432.
- Seely, E. W., & Solomon, C. G. (2003). Insulin resistance and its potential role in pregnancyinduced hypertension. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 88(6), 2393-2398.
- Seshiah, V., Balaji, V., Balaji, M. S., Paneerselvam, A., Arthi, T., Thamizharasi, M., & Datta, M. (2008). Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus in South India (Tamil Nadu) a community based study. *The Association of Physicians of India*, 56(1), 329–33.
- Shaat, N., & Groop, L. (2007). Genetics of gestational diabetes mellitus. Current medicinal chemistry, 14(5), 569-583.
- Seghieri, G., De Bellis, A., Anichini, R., Alviggi, L., Franconi, F., & Breschi, M. C. (2005). Does parity increase insulin resistance during pregnancy? *Diabetes Medicine*, 22 (11), 1574-80.
- Siega-Riz, A. M., Viswanathan, M., Moos, M. K., Deierlein, A., Mumford, S., Knaack, J., Thieda, P., Lux, L. J., & Lohr, K. N. (2009). A systematic review of outcomes of maternal weight gain according to the Institute of Medicine recommendations: birth weight, fetal growth and postpartum weight retention. *American Journal of Obstetrics* and Gynecology, 201(4), 339-e1.
- Sharma, K., Wahi, P., Gupta, A., Jandial, K., Bhagat, R., Gupta, R., Gupta, S., & Singh, J. (2013). Single glucose challenge test procedure for diagnosis of gestational diabetes mellitus: a Jammu cohort study. *Journal of Association of Physicians India*, 61 (8), 558-9.
- Sim, J., & Reid, N. (1999). Statistical inference by confidence intervals: Issues of interpretation and utilization. *Physical Therapy*, 7(2), 186-195.
- Shriraam, V., Rani, M. A., Sathiyasekaran, B. W. C., & Mahadevan, S. (2013). Awareness of gestational diabetes mellitus among antenatal women in a primary health center in South India. *Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 17(1), 146-48.

- Sonagra, A. D., Biradar, S. M., Dattatreya, K., & Jayaprakash, M. D. S. (2014). Normal pregnancy-a state of insulin resistance. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, 8(11), CC01-CC03.
- Staynova, R., Gueorguiev, S., Petkova-gueorguieva, E., Ivanova, S., & Ivanov, K. (2017). Importance of self-monitoring of blood glucose in gestational diabetes: Pharmacists' role in improving patient's compliance: Pilot study. *Journal of Pharmacy*, 7(10), 78–82.
- Svensson, H., Wetterling, L., Bosaeus, M., Odén, B., Odén, A., Jennische, E., Edén, S., Holmäng, A., & Lönn, M. (2016). Body fat mass and the proportion of very large adipocytes in pregnant women are associated with gestational insulin resistance. *International Journal of Obesity*, 40(4), 646-653.
- Sweeting, A. N., Appelblom, H., Ross, G. P., Wong, J., Kouru, H., Williams, P. F., Sairanen, M., & Hyett, J. A. (2017). First trimester prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus : A clinical model based on maternal demographic parameters. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 127, 44–50.
- Tarquini, F., Picchiassi, E., Centra, M., Pennacchi, L., Bini, V., & Cappuccini, B. (2014). Body mass index associated to rs2021966 ENPP1 polymorphism increases the risk for gestational diabetes mellitus body mass index associated to rs2021966 ENPP1 polymorphism increases the risk for gestational diabetes mellitus. *Gynecological Endocrinology*, 31(1), 83-86.
- Teede, H. J., Harrison, C. L., Teh, W. T., Paul, E., & Allan, C. A. (2011). Gestational diabetes: Development of an early risk prediction tool to facilitate opportunities for prevention. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 51(6), 499–504.
- Torloni, M. R., Betran, A. P., Horta, B. L., Nakamura, M. U., Atallah, A. N., Moron, A. F., & Valente, O. (2009). Pre-pregnancy BMI and the risk of gestational diabetes: A systematic review of the literature with meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, 10(2), 194–203.

- Tovar, A., Chasan-Taber, L., Eggleston, E., & Oken, E. (2011). Postpartum screening for diabetes among women with a history of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Preventing Chronic Diseases*, 8(6), 1-11.
- Tuck, M. K., Chan, D. W., Chia, D., Godwin, A. K., Grizzle, W. E., Krueger, K. E., Rom, W., Sanda, M., Sorbara, L., Stass, S., & Wang, W. (2009). Standard operating procedures for serum and plasma collection: Early detection research network consensus statement standard operating procedure integration working group. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 8(1), 113–117.
- Utza, B., Assarag, B., Essolbi, A., Barkat, A., Delamou, A., & De Brouwere, V. (2017). Knowledge and practice related to gestational diabetes among primary health care providers in Morocco : Potential for a defragmentation of care. *Primary Care Diabetes*, 11(4), 389–396.
- Van Leeuwen, M., Opmeer, B., Zweers, E., Van Ballegooie, E., Ter- Brugge, H., De Valk, H., & Mol, B. (2010). Estimating the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: A clinical prediction model based on patient characteristics and medical history. *An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 117(1), 69–75.
- Velasquez-Mieyer, P., Perez-Faustinelli, S., & Cowan, P. A. (2005). Identifying children at risk for obesity, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. *Diabetes Spectrum*, 18(4), 213-220.
- Wang, Y., & Luo, B. R. (2019). The association of body composition with the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus in Chinese pregnant women. *Medicine*, 98, 42(e17576).
- Wendland, E. M., Torloni, M. R., Falavigna, M., Trujillo, J., Dode, M. A., Campos, M. A., Duncan, B. B., & Schmidt, M. I. (2012). Gestational diabetes and pregnancy outcomes-a systematic review of the World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Association of Diabetes in Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG) diagnostic criteria. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 12(1), 1-13.

- Williams, M. A., Qiu, C., Muy-Rivera, M., Vadachkoria, S., Song, T., & Luthy, D. A. (2004). Plasma adiponectin concentrations in early pregnancy and subsequent risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 89(5), 2306-2311.
- Wiznitzer, A., Mayer, A., Novack, V., & Sheiner, E. (2009). Association of lipid levels during gestation with preeclampsia and gestational diabetes mellitus: A populationbased study. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 201(482), e1-8.
- World Health Organization. (2006). Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycemia: Report of a World Health organization consultation. Geneva. https://doi.org/ISBN 92 4 159493 4.
- World Health Organization. (2013). *Diagnostic criteria and classification of hyperglycaemia first detected in pregnancy (No. WHO/NMH/MND/13.2).* Geneva: Author.
- Wynants, L., Collons, G., & Van Calster, B. (2017). Key steps and common pitfalls in developing and validating risk models. *International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 124(3), 423–432.
- Xiong, X., Saunders, L. D., Wang, F. L., & Demianczuk, N. N. (2001). Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: prevalence, risk factors, maternal and infant outcomes. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 75(3), 221-228.
- Zera, C. A., Nicklas, J. M., Levkoff, S. E., & Seely, E. W. (2013). Diabetes risk perception in women with recent gestational diabetes: Delivery to the postpartum visit. *The Journal* of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, 26(7), 691-696.
- Zhang, C., Liu, S., Salomon, C. G., & Hu, F. B. (2006). Dietary fiber intake, dietary glycemic load and the risk for gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabates Care*, 29(10), 2223–2230.
- Zheng, T., Ye, W., Wang, X., Li, X., Zhang, J., Little, J., Zhou, L., & Zhang, L. (2019). A simple model to predict risk of gestational diabetes mellitus from 8 to 20 weeks of gestation in Chinese women. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 19(1), 1-10.
Zhu, Y., & Zhang, C. (2016). Prevalence of gestational diabetes and risk of progression to Type 2 diabetes: A global perspective. *Current Diabetes Report*, 16 (1), 1-19.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Research tool (Questionnaire)

THE NELSON MANDELA AFRICAN INSTITUTION OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY (NM – AIST)

Questionnaire on prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy, risk factors and simplified method for identification of pregnant women at risk in Arusha, Tanzania

S/N	Section A: General information	Fill blanks/Tick where appropriate		
1	Interviewers name			
2	Center Name (ANC name)			
3	Name of respondent (Three names)			
4	Ward			
5	Street			
6	Date of interview			
7	Consent obtained	Yes	1	
		No	2	
8	Contact phone number of respondent			
	Alternative numbers			
9	Who is the owner of the phone number?	Yours	1	
		Husband	2	
		Someone else	3	
		(Mention)		
10	At what gestational age did you start visiting	Write in weeks		
	clinic?			
11	What is the mother's gestational age	Write in weeks		
	currently?			
12	What is your expected date of delivery?	Write the data and		
		month		
Secti	on B: Demographic information			
13	What is your age or date of birth?	Date	Years	
14	What is the highest level of education that you	Never went to school	1	
	have attained?	Primary school	2	
		Secondary school	3	
		college/university	4	

15	What is your marital status?	Never married	1	
		Married	2	
		Separated	3	
		Divorced	4	
		Widowed	5	
		Cohabiting	6	
		Refused to mention	99	
16	Which of the following describes your main	Non-government	1	
	work status?	employee		
		Self employed	2	
		Student	3	
		Home maker	4	
		Retired officer	5	
		Unemployed	7	
		Disabled	8	
		Others (mention)	9	
17	What is your average income per month?	<250,000	1	
		250,000-450,000	2	
		500,000- 750,000	3	
		800,000-1,000,000	4	
		>1,000,000	5	
		Others (mention)	6	
		Refused to mention	99	
Sect	ion C: Risk factors for HDP (present and past	records)		
18	Which birth order is this pregnancy?	First	1	
		Second	2	
		Third	3	
		Fourth	4	
		>Fourth	5	
19	What is the age of your youngest child?	Write in Months		
20	Have you ever delivered ≥4kg child	Yes	1	
	previously?	No	2	
		I don't know	88	
21	Have you ever delivered a pre-term baby?	Yes	1	
	(Delivery before 37 weeks of gestation)	No	2	
22	Have you ever got a prenatal death?	Yes	1	
		No	2	
23	If yes, how many times?	Once	1	
		Twice	2	
		Thrice	3	
		>Thrice	4	

24	Have you ever have a perinatal death?	Yes	1	
		No	2	
25	If yes, how many times?	Once	1	
		Twice	2	
		Thrice	3	
		>Thrice	4	
26	Do you have any history of diabetes in your	Yes	1	
	family?	No	2	
	(your grandfathers/mothers or your	I don't know	88	
	parents/sister/brother)			
27	Did your mother have any history of HDP?	Yes	1	
		No	2	
		I don't know	88	
28	Did you measure your sugar levels in your	Yes	1	
	previous pregnant?	No	2	
		I don't know	88	
29	If yes, how was it tested	Urine	1	
		Blood	2	
30	If yes what was the status?	Normal	1	
		High (diabetes)	2	
		I don't know	88	
31	If it was high, were you treated and followed	Yes	1	
	up?	No	2	
32	If yes, how was it treated?	Given medication	1	
		Education	2	
		Referred to diabetic	3	
		clinic for counseling		
33	What was the mode of delivery in your	Normal delivery	1	
	previous pregnant?	Cesarean session	2	
		Others (specify)	-	
34	If it was cesarean session, what was the	Big baby	1	
	reason?	Poor positioned baby	2	
		Others (specify)	3	
		I don't know	88	
35	Have you ever been hypertensive in your	Yes	1	
	previous pregnancies	No	2	
		I don't know		
36	What was your weight during the first visit to	Write in Kg		
	clinic			
		I don't know	88	
37	What is your ethnicity?	Black	1	
		White	2	

38	Are you smoking currently?	Yes	1	
		Never	2	
		Stopped after	3	
		conception		
		Stopped before	4	
		conception		
39	If yes how many cigarettes per day?	At least one piece	-	
		Two pieces		
		Three pieces		
		More than three		
		pieces		
40	Are you consuming alcohol?	Yes	1	
		Never	2	
		Stopped after	3	
		conception		
		Stopped before	4	
		conception		
41	If yes how many bottles per day?	At least one bottle	1	
		Two bottles	2	
		Three bottles	3	
		More than three	4	
		bottles		
Sect	on D: Knowledge about HIP among women			
42	Do you know the existence of HIP?	Yes	1	
		No	2	
43	If yes, where did you hear about it?	During ANC visits	1	
		Social media	2	
		(mention)		
		Others (specify)	3	
44	Did you test glucose in this pregnancy?	Yes	1	
		No	2	
		I don't know	88	
45	If yes, how was it measured?	In the urine	1	
		Fasting blood	2	
		OGTT	3	
		Others (specify)	4	
		I don't know	88	
46	How were the results?	Normal	1	
		Hyperglycemic	2	
		Hypoglycemic	3	
		I don't know	88	
47	Are you know the meaning of HIP?	Yes	1	

		No	2	
48	If yes can you define it?	Diabetes first	1	
		detected in pregnancy		
		Hereditary Diabetes	2	
		Others (Specify)	3	
49	Are you are of the symptoms of HIP?	Yes	1	
		No	2	
50	If yes mention them	Frequent thirst	1	
		Frequent urination	2	
		Vision impairment	3	
		Others mention	4	-
51	Do you know the effects of HIP?	T2DM to the baby	1	
		Death of the baby	2	
		Macrosomic baby	3	
		Overweight/obesity	4	
		Others(specify)	5	-
52	Do you know the causes of HIP?	Yes	1	
		No	2	
53	If yes mention the causes of HIP?	Overweight/obesity	1	
		Previous GDM	2	
		Family history of	3	
		T2DM		
		Genetics	4	
		Poor Eating behavior	5	
		Others(specify)	6	-
54	Do you have anything to say? Questions,			
	suggestion, opinions			

Section E: Measurements during pregnancy

Respondent ID						
Respondent name						
Gestational week						
Weight before pregnancy						
Anthropometric	Va	riables Measured				
	SN	Variable	1	2	3	
	1	Weight				
	2	MUAC				
	3	Body fat				
	4	Blood pressure				
	5	Presence of edema	1. Yes			
			2. No			

Blood glucose tests				
	1	Fasting blood glucose		
	2	OGTT		
	3	Serum insulin level		
Urine test	4	Urine glucose		
	5	Urine Protein test		

Thank you for your corporation

Appendix 2: Consent form for the cross-sectional study

Introduction

Hyperglycemia in pregnancy (HIP) is impaired glucose tolerance with onset or first recognition during pregnancy. In most cases, blood glucose return to normal after delivery but there are higher chances for future diabetes to the mother and the child. Studies show that early identification and management of HIP prevents adverse pregnant outcomes. This study will help to establish the prevalence of HIP and its associated risk factors and develop a risk factor score system that can be used as easy, noninvasive and less cost method of screening for HIP to avoid unnecessary universal screening but save the lives of mothers and their new bones. To complete this work we will take your blood and urine samples to measure glucose, serum insulin, urine protein and anthropometric measurements as well as requesting to answer some questions in a questionnaire.

Procedure: If you consent to participate in this study, you will be requested to come tomorrow before eating anything and your blood will be drown from the venous for checking fasting blood glucose and serum insulin status. To confirm your glycaemia status, you will be given glucose solution (75 grams dissolved in 300ml of water) to drink and blood will be taken after one and two hours and tested for glucose concentration. The results of your test will be disclosed to you and its implication will be explained. Your blood will be stored and used for the purpose stated in this study only.

Benefits: By participating in this study, your blood sugar, blood pressure, insulin resistance will be measured free of charge and provided with advice and counseling. You may be referred for more tests and managements if necessary.

Risks and precautions: We will request you to remain fasting for at least eight (8) hours at night before you come for the test, not smoke or take alcohols. We will request you to wait for two hours after drinking glucose solution without eating anything. Well trained and experienced personnel will be involved during blood collection to ensure minimal discomfort. No risks are involved in drinking glucose solution; however, you might have some inconveniences like nausea, slight headache or tiredness.

Confidentiality: Any records relating to your participation will be strictly confidential. Your names will not be used in any reports from the study. The participation to this study is voluntary and may withdraw from the study at any time. You are free to ask any questions or any clarification after you have read and understood the consent form explained to you.

Participant statement

Ihave understood the above in	nformation explained to me	by the investigator
and I agree to take part in this study and I can v	withdraw with or without given	ving reasons.
Participant's Name:	.Signature	Date
Investigator's Name :	.Signature	.Date

Appendix 3: Ethical clearance certificate



- 3. Copies of final publications are made available to the Ministry of Health, Community Development, Gender,
- Elderly & Children and the National Institute for Medical Research. Any researcher, who contravenes or fails to comply with these conditions, shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine as per NIMR Act No. 23 of 1979, PART III Section 10(2). 4.

Signature

CHILDREN

Site: Arusha Approval is valid for one year: 19th February 2018 to 18th February 2019.

Name: Prof. Yunus Daud Mgaya

Name: Prof. Muhammad Bakari Kambi

ave.

Signature CHAIRPERSON MEDICAL RESEARCH COORDINATING COMMITTEE

CC: RMO of Arusha DMO/DED of Arusha urban

CHIEF MEDICAL OFFICER MINISTRY OF HEALTH, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, GENDER, ELDERLY &